
SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LAESCYP 
MEETING

4.00 pm MONDAY, 15TH OCTOBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.  
This meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 
using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. The Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal (Wales) Act 
To consider the attached report 5 - 42

4. Value for Money Report on Education Services 
To consider the attached report 43 - 60

5. ESTYN Self Evaluation Reporting (SER) 
Framework (Inspection Areas 2) 
To consider the attached report 61 - 80

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the public 
be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 16  under Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

6. Presentation:  Key Messages from Education 

RE-OPENED SESSION

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 



8. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 81 - 86

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair)
                     C Davies (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: D Chaplin, L Davies, S Jago and S Thomas

Co-optees: C Brown, R Lazell, K Phelan, M Symonds, 
A Rees, A Roberts and R Crowley

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

The Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal (Wales) Act / Deddf Anghenion Dysgu 
Ychwanegol a Thribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update members on the work undertaken in Merthyr 

Tydfil to prepare for the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act (2018). 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill was passed by 

the National Assembly for Wales on 12th December 2017 and after receiving Royal 
Assent became the Additional Learning Needs Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 
(ALNET) on 24th January 2018. 
 
The ALNET aims to create:  

 a unified legislative framework to support all children of compulsory school age 
or below with ALN and to support young people with ALN who are in school or 
Further Education (FE); 

 an integrated, collaborative process of assessment, planning and monitoring 
which facilitates early, timely and effective interventions; and 

Date Written September 21st 2018 

Report Author Sarah Bowen  

Service Area Learning Department  

Committee Date 15th October 2018 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 a fair and transparent system for providing information and advice, and for 
resolving concerns and appeals.  

 

3.2 Welsh Government made funding available for the Consortia in 2016/17(£250,000) 
and 2017/18 (£250,000) for the implementation of the ALN Bill.  The purpose of the 
funding was to develop and promote innovative, multi-agency and cross-sector 
working practices to support learners with ALN.  The funding was used to develop 
and implement interventions which have a beneficial impact on all learners, but the 
expectation was that they will have a greater potential benefit on learners with ALN. 

 
3.3 The funding needed to be used to support partnerships between local authorities and 

other agencies involved in supporting learners with ALN, such as schools, further 
education institutions, early years providers, specialist post-16 providers, local health 
boards and the third sector, with a focus on improving any or all of the following:- 

 

 early identification of needs 

 transition planning between education settings, out of education and into social 
care, and into adult life 

 impact monitoring of supporting interventions 

 the capacity of Additional Learning Needs Co-ordinators/ Special Educational 
Needs Co-ordinators in providing support to classroom staff, including skills 
development 

 the capacity of local post-16 provision for learners with Learning Difficulty 
Disorders (LDD) and/or the development of specialist local provision 

 the capacity of special schools to act as specialist support to mainstream schools 

 practice and arrangements for resolving disagreements and avoiding disputes 

 capacity of local authority-based specialist services to support learners in early 
years, maintained schools and FEIs 

 raising awareness about the full range of local support available for learners with 
ALN and their families 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Working collaboratively as a consortium the two grants were utilised to develop; 

 
4.1.1 Training materials on mediation and dispute resolution to produce the 

following outcomes:- 

 Action is taken in a timely manner as a result of earlier engagement with 
children and young people and their parents 

 Agreed protocols and policies lead to consistently applied approaches 
across the region 

 Guidelines to support schools, pupils and parents are clear and lead to a 
reduction in escalation of disputes with a consequential reduction in 
tribunals 
 

4.1.2 Transition planning between education settings, out of education and into 
social care, and into adult life to produce the following outcomes:- 

 Improved long-term life chances for children who are moving from early 
years provision to statutory education 

 Improved long-term life chances for young people who are moving from 
education into adulthood 

Page 6



 An increased number of children and young people receive support that is 
tailored to their needs 

 Improved and sustainable collaboration between key partners including 
early years provisions, schools, FE colleges, Career Wales, health boards, 
parents and local authorities to enable improved continuity  and progression 
through all phases of the ALN learners education 
    

4.1.3 Establish a working group of ALN Co-ordinators (ALNCOs) to develop 
consistent, multi-agency approaches for the development of Individual 
Development Plans (IDPs) to produce the following outcomes:- 

 ALNCOs and mainstream class teachers have the skills to develop 
inclusive provision of high quality that results in improved progress and 
attainment for all children and young people with ALN 

 Assessment and IDPs reflect the needs of children and young people and 
ensure effective interventions are put in place in a timely manner 

 The needs of the children and the young people are at the centre of 
decision making resulting in improved outcomes for leaners with ALN  
 

4.1.4 The capacity of specialist schools to act as specialist support to mainstream 
schools to produce the following outcomes:- 

 The capacity of teachers in special schools and resource bases is improved 
and effectively targeted in areas where there are skills gaps in the 
mainstream teaching force 

 The skills of teachers and teaching assistants in mainstream schools are 
significantly increased to enable them to better meet the needs of ALN 
learners 

 The capacity to secure improved progress by ALN learners is significantly 
enhanced and their attainment improves as a result 

 
4.2 In April 2018, the ALN Transformational Lead for the Central South Consortium 

(CSC) region was appointed and funding of £783,000 was allocated to the region to 
further enable meeting the requirements for the ALN Act.  Between March and July 
2018 analysis was carried out by the Learning Department in Merthyr Tydfil to 
identify strengths and areas for development – see Appendix 1 ‘Initial Readiness 
Survey’.  Following these activities, a summary document detailing the state of the 
region was created and a subsequent Regional Implementation Plan was developed.  
Each LA will be leading on priorities contained in this plan attached as Appendix 2, 
and as outlined in the report to CSC attached as Appendix 3. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 On September 4th 2018 the regional plan was ratified by the Directors of Education. 

An awareness raising programme has been developed around the communication of 
the content of the plan and its implications, with colleagues across the LA, 
Headteachers, Further Education and Early Years colleagues, ALNCos, Governing 
bodies, parents/carers, children and young people.   

 
5.2 Training continues to be rolled out on the delivery of Person Centred Planning (PCP) 

to ensure that this is consistently embedded.  This will include self-evaluation of the 
effectiveness of this training.  
 

Page 7



5.3 Training materials for mediation were produced using the ALN Implementation Grant. 
The training focused on early pro-active mediation and for the use of dispute 
mediation training as part of an early intervention strategy.  The purpose of the Train 
the Trainer course in mediation was as follows:- 

 To provide a sustainable Train the Trainer model for mediation and dispute 
resolution between LA, schools and parents/carers 

 To support and equip trainers across the CSC to disseminate good practice 
guidance to local practitioners concerning early and pro-active mediation and 
dispute resolution 
 

5.4 Attending the mediation training that we are now able to deliver, has enabled further 
preparedness for the ALN Bill.   A training programme is being rolled out during the 
Autumn term with more training planned for early in 2019.  Each attendee will be 
required to attend the two different modules:- 

 Parent Perspective and ALNET Bill 

 Mediation/Early resolution; De-escalation conflict and the Appeals Process. 

5.5 Channels of communication have been established with Corporate Communication 
colleagues across the region and a regional Project Officer has been appointed to 
assist in delivering on the identified actions for each LA. 
 

5.6 Merthyr Tydfil will be leading on the work around Early Years’ settings to ensure that 
the new statutory expectations for Early Years are understood and that agreed 
protocols are followed – Priority 5. 
 

5.7 Merthyr Tydfil will be leading on supporting the rights of the child and the young 
person with ALN, through the development of user-friendly practices that clearly 
explain processes and what support they can expect to receive, as well as promoting 
their rights to appeal – Priority 8.  

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1     We need to be able to demonstrate that:  

 the implications of the Act and Code are clearly understood by all parties; 

 there are robust processes in place for  effective joint working with other agencies 
through all phases of the ALN learner’s education; 

 there are effective working relationships with parents and carers; 

 all practise is child focused; 

 planning for workforce development builds capacity; 

 there is a quality assurance process to identify good practice; 

 services are developed flexibly to meet needs; 

 there are review arrangements in place by the LA and governing bodies of 
maintained schools in Merthyr Tydfil, for pupils with ALN, in order to assess and 
respond to future needs; 

 processes and procedures are developed in advance of implementation date(s); 
and 

 any other developments within Merthyr Tydfil re: ALN services/provision will be 
compliant with the Act. 

  

Page 8



 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Merthyr Tydfil must be prepared to implement the new system in line with the 

prescribed timescales starting in September 2020, with the complete system 
becoming operational from September 2023.  It is essential that LA and educational 
setting staff adopt a person centred approach and develop systems and plans that 
mirror the principles of the Act without compromising the current systems. There will 
be two systems operating from 2020-2023, therefore the LA must ensure effective 
work with colleagues, parents and children to manage this transition. 

 
7.2 Priorities for the Central South region are outlined in the ALN Regional 

Implementation Plan and the focus is on seeking to secure coherent and 
collaborative regional working in relation to the identified key priorities.  

 
7.3 The Central South ALN Project Board, ALN Transformation Steering Group, Central 

South Education Directors and School Improvement Consortium, the CSC, will work 
together over the next three years (to March 2021) in partnership with the Welsh 
Government to prepare all stakeholders. 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
8.1  The ongoing work around the preparedness for the ALNET Act connects directly with 

the Best Start Wellbeing Objective – children and young people get the best start to 
life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and 
confident individuals.  

 
8.2 The ALNET Act is consistent with the five ways of working as prescribed in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015:- 
 

 Collaboration – a fundamental principal of the Act focuses on improving 
collaboration and creating a unified system 

 Involvement – ensuring that pupils, parents and carers are at the heart of the 
system 

 Long term – the Act focuses on meeting the needs of children from 0-25 

 Prevention – the focus of the Act on early identification of need and ensuring 
appropriate provision to meet needs. 

 
 

 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 

CSC ALN 
Transformation Project 

Plan  

Learning Department  

Page 9



relevant committees 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



READINESS SURVEY – LA Education Services- MTCBC                                                                                                 Appendix 1
Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

A. Implementing a unified plan for children and young people with additional learning needs

Moving from Statements to IDPs
Welsh Government training about the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act will be rolled out from January 2020 and will be 
organised by regional transformation leads.  The training consists of four levels:
 Level one: general overview of the system for all staff.
 Level two: more detailed information of the system for all staff.
 Level three: job specific training for staff including: the LA early years co-ordinator.
 Level four: training leaders with corporate or statutory responsibility under the Act including: elected members, chief executives and directors.

1. Training/Awareness raising 
Ensuring that department/s are 
knowledgeable about how the 
Act will impact on working 
practices

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Training/awareness raising- team plans, individual plans, CPD programmes, training timetables, discussion forums on-
line, dissemination of updates from Welsh Government, frequently asked questions. ALNco training programme, school 
training programme.
ALN Early Years Co-ordinator-records of discussions, job descriptions, regional collaboration, and EY steering group in 
place. Discussions at school level.

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need 
to support us?
What additional 
resources are 

required?
Have you started to identify staff 
which will benefit from training on 
aspects of the Act? 

 All staff have been identified
 training opportunities have been 

identified in team plans
 and in individual performance 

management plans
 School staff have training needs 

planned for  in a coherent 
programme

 (To cover L1,2,3)

 All staff have been 
identified including

 Specific groups of local 
authority staff
and

 Specific groups of 
school staff  

 (To cover L 1,2)

 Discussions have been 
undertaken to identify 
staff that require 
training, within the 
department and in 
schools

(To cover L1)
Have you considered how you will 
raise awareness and promote the 
new system and its implications for 

 A training plan has been 
identified and planned for within 
corporate training plan

 Members have been 
identified that require 
training

 Discussions have taken 
place as to how to 
proceed with training 

P
age 11



2

your authority across elected 
members?

 Members forums have been 
developed to share 
developments and updates 
across the members
(To cover L4)

 Discussions as to a 
training plan have taken 
place

members

Local authorities will be required to 
have an ALN early year’s co-
ordinator in post by September 2019 
–what steps have you taken/are 
taking?

 The role of ALN early years co-
ordinator has been identified in 
organisational structure plans

 The consortia have discussed a 
regional role and agreed on a 
way forward

 A job description has been 
agreed

 Job specific training has been 
facilitated
(To cover L3)

 Discussions on the role 
of the ALN early years 
co-ordinator have been 
undertaken locally

 The role has yet to be 
discussed on a regional 
footprint

 The role of ALN early 
years co-ordinator has 
yet to be considered/ 
discussed

Discussions to be 
held with EYs 
Coordinator; post 
to possibly sit 
centrally in LA with 
current 
Statementing 
Officer; funding to 
be identified.   

2. The Welsh Government has 
announced that the move from 
statements of SEN to individual 
plans will start in September 2020 
and complete by July 2022

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Statements to IDPs-LA officers engaged in process, steering/planning groups established, good practice discussed and 
shared, parents engaged/consulted. Schools (HTs and ALNcos) engaged/consulted. Aspects and challenges identified 
and discussed, problem solving being undertaken on a local regional (consortia) basis, team/service/individual 
implementation planning.
Consultation/Engagement undertaken with Health/Social Care, parents, pupils,3rd sector
ALN Early Years Co-ordinator-involved in steering group, planning documents, written into individual/team plans.

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need 
to support us?
What additional 
resources are 

required?
Have you identified who will be 
assigned leadership of the 
implementation of the move from 
statements of SEN to individual 
development plans? 

 Leadership has been 
identified and role assigned

 Implementation planning has 
been put in place to identify 
and steer process

 Other agencies are being 
included (Health/Social Care)

 Leadership has been 
discussed

 Implementation planning 
has been 
considered/discussed

 Other agencies have not 
been engaged

 Leadership not yet 
considered

 Implementation planning 
not yet discussed

 Other agencies not 
considered

Process is well 
embedded in 
Greenfield and 
with 
Statementing 
Officer; weaker 
link from 
Health/Social 
Care 
(collaborative 
training would  

P
age 12



3

be beneficial) 
Have you identified and planned for 
the key aspects in facilitating a 
timely move from statements to 
individual development plans? 

 Multi-agency steering group 
established

 Clear plans developed for 
implementation

 Consultation/engagement with 
all other agencies, 
Health/Social Care

 Consultation undertake with 
parents, pupils , 3rd sector 
groups

 Discussions to form 
steering group

 Planning being considered
 Discussions underway to 

engage all stakeholders

 Identification at early 
stages- thinking of ways to 
plan for moving to IDPs

 Planning to be discussed 
and formalised

 Little engagement with 
stakeholders

Have you identified and planned for 
the key challenges to making a 
timely move from statements to 
individual development plans?     

 Challenges identified and feed 
progress

 Good practice disseminated 
across consortia

 Other agencies engaged and 
contributing to identification 
and problem solving through 
steering group and detailed 
planning

 ALN EY co-ordinator included

 Challenges discussed, 
action planning being 
considered

 Other agencies/ 
stakeholders challenges 
being considered

 Planning being developed
 Local rather than regional 

response to sharing god 
practice and problem 
solving

 ALN EY co-ordinator 
considered

 Discussions at early 
stages

 Little evidence of planning 
 Local rather than regional 

response
 Other agencies/ 

stakeholders not 
considered yet 

 ALN EY co-ordinator 
considered not factored in 
yet

IDP format tbc 

3. The Welsh Government 
implementation plan sets out the 
expectation local authorities will 
work at a regional level, with 
transformation leads, to develop a 
regional implementation plan for 
making the transition from 
statements to IDPs. The 
development of the regional plans 
will start in March 2018

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Implementation plans at local and regional level are joined-up, the following may be identified depending on where the 
LA/Region is in its journey
 Practices and processes required to implement the IDP system are identified 
 Roles and responsibilities are clear 
 Detailed plans as to how the department will co-ordinate assessment, planning and delivery for children of pre-school 

age with ALN
 Detailed plans as to how the department will co-ordinate assessment, planning and delivery for children and young 

people who are looked after by the state (LAC)
 Explicit multi-agency working arrangements clearly identified 
 Identification of support provided to schools in the LA area
 Identification of support provided to FEIs in the LA area
 Explicit funding arrangements associated with implementing the IDP system detailed and consulted upon with all 

stakeholders 
 Planning to ensure IDPs will be integrated with local data management systems

P
age 13



4

 Contingency planning and moderation processes identified for  LA maintained IDPs which includes plans for pre-
school children and plans for young people, up to the age of 25, enrolled in further education 

 Contingency planning and moderation processes and procedures identified for school-based IDPs and FE IDPs in 
consultation with schools and colleges

Engagement with stakeholders may include some or all below
 Additional learning needs co-ordinators (ALNcos)? 
 Maintained and non-maintained nurseries
 Teaching staff – maintained schools, special schools, additional learning resource bases and PRUs
 School governors
 Health visitors, School Nurses
 Flying start practitioners 
 Social services/LA Co-ordinators
 Local Health Boards/Delos
 FEIs
 EOTAS providers
 Youth Offending Team
 Children and young people 
 Parents
 3rd sector interest groups e.g. RNID,RNIB

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need 
to support us?
What additional 
resources are 

required?
What actions have you taken to start 
the process of developing an 
implementation plan for making the 
transition from statements of SEN to 
individual development plans? 
Who has been involved in the 
process? 

 The local and regional 
implementation plans are in 
place and are co-ordinated for 
regional strategy

 Engagement has taken place 
with a full range of agencies 
and stakeholders(see 
evidence)

 Effective monitoring procedures 
are in place

 Local plans are being 
formulated, links to 
regional plans have been 
discussed

 Engagement has taken 
place with some 
stakeholders including 
principal players such as 
Health and Social Care

 Monitoring processes are 
being considered

 Local plans are being 
discussed, links to 
regional plans being 
considered

 Engagement has been 
discussed but not 
undertaken as yet

 Monitoring processes are 
not in place

Schools are still 
using statements 
as IDP has yet 
tbc, however, 
Individual Action 
Plans have been 
in place for some 
time for all 
pupils in 
Greenfield 
special School. 
Transition 
programme tbc

P
age 14



5

4. Communication and resources
What actions has the department 
taken to develop a communication 
plan to explain to partner 
organisations how the move from 
SEN to ALN and from statements to 
IDPs will work in the local authority 
area? 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
A Communication plan may include the following identified good practice-

 Lead identified, with clear roles and responsibilities outlined
 Identified actions that the school should undertake to prepare for the implementation of the move from IEPs to IDPs
 Clearly defined process to support/resource the link between the delegated ALN budget and the school’s 

responsibility to maintain IDPs
  Clear criteria and moderation(local and/or regional/national) to define how schools will be responsible for developing 

and maintaining school-based IDPs
 Clear criteria and moderation (local and/or regional/national) to define how IDPs may be referred to local authorities
 Clear criteria under which a LA will reconsider decisions taken by schools
 Clear guidelines as to how IDPs will work for children and young people who are EOTAS, detained, elective home 

educated – including links to IDP process and EOTAS panels (set up under the EOTAS framework for action)
 Clear guidelines as to how IDPs will work for children and young people with care and support plans, including those 

who are looked after by the state?
 Clear planning to engage and inform pupils, parents, other stakeholders including Health, Social Care, voluntary 

sector
 Equality of communication needs has been considered and reasonable adjustments implemented to allow equity of 

access

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need 
to support us?
What additional 
resources are 

required?
Has the department identified who 
will be assigned leadership of 
developing the communication plan?  
When do you expect the 
communication plan will have been 
developed?

 Lead identified
 Communication plan fully 

developed and being 
implemented across local 
area/region

 Lead discussions 
held

 Communications plan 
in progress, planning 
undertaken but not 
yet implemented

 Communication plan 
and Lead only at 
consideration stage

Communication 
plan and Lead 
to be identified 
as a priority 

What action has the department 
taken to develop guidance and 
resources to facilitate schools to 
implement the new IDP system? 

See evidence
 Guidance developed and 

distributed
 Processes in place
 Resources for schools 

developed by LA and in 
place Communication 
materials developed or 

See evidence
 Guidance etc. being 

developed

See evidence
 Guidance etc. being 

discussed

Needs to be 
further 
embedded in 
educational 
settings; this will  
be addressed in 
the next phase 
of training at 

P
age 15



6

disseminated from WG PCP Forums 
How have you developed a 
communication plan to explain to 
children, young people and parents 
how the move from SEN to ALN and 
from statements to IDPs will work in 
the local authority area

 Plan in place
 Guidance developed 

locally/regionally/nationally 
and disseminated to key 
stakeholders including 
pupils, parents

 Equity of access planned for

 Plan developing
 Guidance developing
 Dissemination to 

some stakeholders
 Yet to engage 

parents and pupils
 Equity of access 

needing to be 
addressed

 Plan considered and 
some limited 
discussion 

 Guidance not 
developing at this 
stage

 Engagement not yet 
underway

 Equity of access not 
being considered as 
yet

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

B.  Putting in place policies to support the implementation of a single, unified plan for young people aged 0-25 years 

The Act places three requirements on local authorities in relation to young people, up to the age of 25, who attend further education: 
 to maintain, where appropriate, IDPs for young people entering and enrolled at further education by July 2022
 to provide access to local authority dispute resolution services by September 2020
 responsibility on the local authority for securing post-16 provision for young people with complex needs who require specialist placements by September 2020.  
Transition planning for young people 
entering further education with LA 
maintained IDPs

1. What actions will the local 
authority take to prepare for 
implementing its new 
responsibility for maintaining 
IDPs for young people, up to the 
age of 25, enrolled in FE? 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?

Draft implementation plans, regional meetings to discuss joint provision;, developed/developing transition processes 
using common formats; identifying and training staff to take on new role/s, additional responsibilities; developing multi-
agency working; working in collaboration with FE providers; setting up steering groups; engaging with all agencies e.g. 
Careers Wales. Team/service plans and individual work plans; attending LHB, Social Care meetings locally/regionally

Evidence of consultation with a wide range of stakeholders/partners may include:
 Young people
 Parents
 Social Services
 Schools
 FE colleges
 Careers Wales
 Local Health boards

P
age 16



7

 Further education institutions
 Specialist independent colleges

Communications plan may be in place.

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
Has an implementation plan been 
drafted? The plan may contain:

 A timetable to ensure 
implementation of LA 
responsibility for supporting, as 
appropriate, young people 
making the transition to further 
education as in new COP 

 Identifying capacity and 
resources

 Practices and processes required 
to implement systems to support 
transition to post-16 education

 Multi-agency working

 An implementation plan is in 
place

 A timetable for transition is in 
place

 Increased capacity and 
resources have been 
identified; including training of 
existing staff and/or recruiting 
additional staff to cover new 
responsibilities

 Clear transition processes are 
in place

 Multi-agency working is 
operational and established 
processes are evident

 An implementation plan 
is being developed

 A timetable is being 
developed

 Additional resources and 
capacity are being 
planned for

 Transition processes are 
under development

 Multi-agency processes 
are being discussed and 
drafted

 An implementation plan is 
being considered. 
Drafting is not yet in place

 A timetable is being 
discussed but is not in 
draft as yet

 Transition processes for 
Post 16 pupils have not 
been  discussed or 
identified

 Multi-agency working is at 
the emergent stage, initial 
contact has been made 
but not sustained through 
a steering group/working 
party

What consultation has been 
undertaken with stakeholders

 Consultation has been 
undertaken with all 
stakeholders

 Consultation is being 
developed to include a 
wide range of 
stakeholders

 Consultation has been 
discussed but is not yet 
taken place

Have you developed/are developing 
a communications plan?
This may include:
 Easy-read leaflets providing 

information on what support is 
available and what they can 
expect during the admissions 
process (including transition)

 Adequate information about ALN 

 Plan in place
 Wide variety of media used
 Guidance developed 

locally/regionally/nationally 
and disseminated to key 
stakeholders including 
pupils, parents

 Equity of access planned for

 Plan developing
 A range of media being 

considered
 Guidance developing
 Dissemination to some 

stakeholders
 Yet to engage parents 

and pupils
 Equity of access 

 Plan considered and 
some limited discussion 

 Media use not yet being 
considered

 Guidance not developing 
at this stage

 Engagement not yet 
underway

 Equity of access not 

P
age 17



8

support within all college 
guides/prospectuses

 Easily accessible information on 
the college/LA website about 
ALN support and transition 
opportunities

needing to be addressed being considered

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
2. Has the department identified/is 

identifying the actions that need 
to be taken to extend access of 
local authority dispute resolution 
services to young people, up to 
the age of 25, enrolled in further 
education? 

 This requirement has been 
written into contracts/work 
plans for dispute resolution 
services

 This requirement is 
being discussed to 
implement

 This requirement has not 
yet been considered

3. What actions has the         
department identified/is identifying 
that need to be taken to develop 
practices and processes in 
preparation for taking on 
responsibility of securing 
placements for young people with 
complex needs? 
 Has work started on developing a 

plan to implement LA secured 
specialist post-16 placements?

 The plan may include:
 Early identification of the number 

of young people with ALN each 
year that will be likely to need 
specialist placements? 

 Working with FEIs to develop 
local/regional provision, where 
possible

 Working with LHBs to put in 
place joint funding mechanisms

 An action plan is in place
 The plan includes early 

identification of pupil numbers 
and the range of specialist 
places available 
locally/regionally to meet need 
in a timely way

 Work with FE colleges is 
already in place

 Working with LHBs to agree 
joint funding mechanisms are 
well-developed

 Working with partner agencies 
is evident

 An action plan is 
developing and 
discussions have taken 
place

 Early identification of 
pupils and available 
resources have been 
discussed in a local and 
regional context to 
enable services to meet 
pupil needs in a timely 
way.

 Working with FE 
colleagues is in 
development

 Working with LHBs is at 
an early stage with 
discussions about 
funding

 Working with other 
partner agencies e.g. 

 An action plan is not in 
place or been discussed

 Early identification of 
resource has not been 
considered

 Local and regional 
discussions are not in 
place

 Work with FE colleges is 
being considered

 Working with LHBs and 
other partner agencies 
has not been considered 
yet, no joint funding 
protocols are in place.

Joint funding 
arrangements tbc 

P
age 18



9

 Working with all partner 
organisations to ensure 
placements are secured and 
arrangement are put in place in a 
timely way

Career Wales is being 
discussed

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

C.  Clear and consistent rights of appeal

The Act introduces extended rights of appeal to children and young people. Children and young people with a school maintained plan will be able to appeal certain 
decisions to tribunal as will young people, up to the age of 25, who are enrolled in further education. These rights of appeal are requirements within the Code of 
Practice.

1. What action has the department 
taken to implement practices 
associated with explaining and 
promoting rights of appeal, 
including all learners with ALN, 
0-25, not just in relation to LA 
based IDPs (N.B. requirement of 
the COP)

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Service-Updated all correspondence e.g. standard letter templates, posters, leaflets, web-sites;
engaging with parents groups, organising consultation events, working with 3rd sector agencies to raise awareness, 
included in their publicity, advice and guidance. Updated communications plan, service, team plans, identified additional 
resource/capacity
Schools- Updated all correspondence e.g. standard letter templates, posters, leaflets, web-sites
engaging with parents groups, organising consultation events, working with 3rd sector agencies to raise awareness, 
included in their publicity, advice and guidance
Raising awareness training provided/planned

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
How is the Service planning to:
 Produce literature for children, 

young people and parents to 
raise awareness of/promote the 
right to appeal?

 Produce literature for young 
people with ALN making the 
transition to further education to 

 Service/Comms planning 
takes on board all 
requirements of the COP.

 Service/Comms planning 
to on board all 
requirements of the COP 
is in process

 Service/Comms plans 
being considered

Need regional leaflet; 
to look at SNAP Cymru 
materials 

P
age 19



10

raise awareness of/promote their 
right to appeal? 

Have you considered how to:
 Raise awareness of the right for 

children and young people, who 
lack capacity, to have a case 
friend where disagreements 
proceed to tribunal

 Raise awareness of the right to 
representation for young people 
over the age of 16 and parents, 
who lack capacity, to support 
them in taking a case to tribunal 

 Discussions have/are 
taken place to address via 
guidance/advice/other 
agencies retained

 Discussions have/are 
being considered taken 
place to address via 
guidance/advice/other 
agencies retained

 Some consideration is 
taking place

Service is provided by 
SNAP

Are you planning to:
Providing guidance to schools which 
includes:
 The rights of children and young 

people to take a case to tribunal
 How the school should prepare 

the case including the quality of 
evidence required

 Lessons drawn from local 
authority experience of decisions 
made by the tribunal

 Guidance and advice 
planned to support 
schools including 
templates, access to 
support, dissemination of 
case studies and 
exemplar resources

 Guidance and advice 
being discussed to 
support schools including 
templates, access to 
support, dissemination of 
case studies and 
exemplar resources

 Discussions and planning 
being considered re: 
guidance and advice etc. 

Signpost to SNAP; LA 
involvement; emphasis 
on increased parental 
involvement; 
consistent approach 
required across the 
region. 

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

D.  Increasing participation of children and young people 

 The Act introduces a requirement for those involved in the ALN system to support children, young people and parents and to have regard to the views, wishes 
and feelings of children, young people and parents.  

 Person-centred practice is one approach which can be used to achieve this- It is imperative that children and young people see the planning process as 
something which is done with them rather than to them.

P
age 20



11

 Once young people become 16 they are treated as adults who can choose to involve their parents but who have to consent to sharing information with them, as 
the rights belong to them alone.  

1. Has Person-Centred Practice 
(PCP) training been rolled out 
across the LA?  

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Participation standards- evidence of service and team self-assessment, working with children participation officers at 
local level and national level 
Children’s Commissioner’s guidance on taking a rights based approach in education settings - 
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/The-Right-Way-Education.pdf

Evidence of PCP training, sustained developments, resources made available to schools, dissemination of good 
practice through ALNco forums via advisory teachers, LA based staff, included in submissions for assessments, used in 
school and LA based IDPs. Used in annual reviews, IDP reviews.1 page profiles in general use in schools

PCP training evident across partners including Health Social Care, Play, Youth, YOS, FE colleges, ITT courses

School/LA based “champions”, use of ALN Innovation Grant, evident in implementation plans, local and regional 
approaches

Evidenced in School development pans, ALN development plans, service planning and individual plans

School based staff training programmes e.g. LSAs

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
Have all LA staff involved in ALN 
been trained?

 If not, will all staff have 
undertaken training by 
September 2020? 

Is the local authority currently using 
PCP? If not, when will it be 
implemented? 

 Training well established, 
and sustained

 ALN staff trained
 PCP champions, schools 

and LAs, in place and 
implementation plans in 
place

 Evidence of 1 page 
profiles, IDPs, PCP 
processes in place at LA 
and school level, 
including at transitional 
and annual reviews of LA 
and school-based IDPs.

 Training on-going
 ALN staff identified for 

training, some already 
trained

 PCP champions in place 
and implementation plans 
being developed

 Some evidence of PCP 
processes in place but not 
across all schools and 
services

 Resources being 
developed and a 
dissemination method 

 Training to be rolled out, 
actions have been 
identified including 
identifying ALN staff to be 
prioritised

 PCP champions not yet in 
place although discussed, 
implementation plans not 
in place yet but 
consideration given

 Resources and good 
practice dissemination 
considered but not yet 
evident

Refresher training to 
be provided for 
Education, Social 
Services, FE, and EYs 

P
age 21

https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/The-Right-Way-Education.pdf


12

 Sharing of good practice 
and resources evident

 Evidence of LAC PCP 
processes in place and 
for other vulnerable 
learners

 Training rolled out to a 
wide range of partner 
agencies including:
 Health
 Social Care
 Play
 Youth
 YOS
 FE colleges Post 16 

transitional reviews
 Careers Wales

being discussed
 Training being developed 

to include partner 
agencies, some have 
been trained

 Specific PCP processes 
for vulnerable groups e.g. 
LAC pupils not yet regular 
practice

 Training for partner 
agencies not yet 
considered, less of a 
priority than schools at 
present

 No specific templates 
processes for LAC pupils 
or other vulnerable 
groups

Have all school staff involved in ALN 
in the authority been trained?

If not, when will staff have 
undertaken training by September 
2020?

Are all schools using PCP? If not, 
will all schools be using PCP by 
September 2020? 

 Schools/ALNcos trained 
and process embedded

 Plans in place to continue 
training programme and 
to refresh

 School based champions 
evident

 Evidence of 1 page 
profiles, IDPs, PCP 
processes in place at 
school level, including at 
transitional and annual 
reviews of LA and school-
based IDPs. Sustained 
and consistent practice 
evident

 Sharing of good practice 
and resources evident

 Many schools/ALNcos 
trained and process 
becoming sustained in 
some schools

 School based champions 
identified

 Evidence of use of 
consistent PCP 
processes across many 
schools

 Sharing of good practice 
being undertaken

 Resources being 
developed for school use

 Some ALNcos and school 
staff trained

 School based champions 
being considered

 Some evidence of PCP 
processes used in some 
schools, although not 
always consistently

 Sharing of good practice 
and development of 
resources being planned 
for

New ALNCos receive 
annual training; 
25 out of 28 schools 
have 2 staff members 
trained. 

2. What other actions has the 
department taken to support and 
increase the participation of 

 The service has strong 
evidence of engagement 
with young people and 

 The service has  
evidence of engagement 
with young people and 

 The service has started to 
engage with young 
people, their 

P
age 22



13

children, young people and 
parents/carers?   

their parents/carers to 
ensure that they have 
been fully involved in the 
Act’s requirements and 
changes for PCP

 The Service has 
completed the 
participation self-
assessment and achieved 
the standards 
successfully, and works 
closely with the 
participation officer to 
ensure participation

 A communications plan is 
in place to disseminate 
new requirements and 
changes including 
ensuring attendance of all 
pupils parents and carers 
at PCP reviews

 The service ensures 
pupils and parents 
understand and 
participate fully in the 
process

their parents/carers and 
have made some effort to 
engage with them to raise 
awareness of the Act’s 
requirements and 
changes for PCP

 The Service is 
undertaking the 
participation standards 
self-assessment, and is 
developing work with the 
participation officer to 
ensure participation

 A communications plan is 
being developed to 
disseminate new 
requirements and 
changes and some 
pupils, parents and carers 
take part in the PCP 
process. 

 Work is being undertaken 
to explain process to 
pupils and parents/carers

parents/carers and has 
started to raise 
awareness of the Act’s 
requirements and 
changes for PCP

 The service is planning to 
engage in the 
participation standards at 
some point

 A communications plan to 
disseminate new 
requirements and 
changes is being 
considered and a few 
pupils, parents and carers 
are starting to take part in 
the PCP process

 Development work is 
planned to explain the 
PCP process to pupils, 
parents and carers

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

E.  High aspirations and improved outcomes

 This new Act will pave the way for a radical new approach, driving improvements in standards to ensure all learners are supported to meet their full potential. 
Essentially it brings the entire legislative framework into a 21st century enabling us to effectively support learners with ALN through their education journey.

 At the heart of all of the reforms is a focus on inclusion; putting children and young people at the centre, and ensuring they are supported to reach their full 
potential. 

 The emphasis of IDPs will be on making provision that delivers tangible outcomes that contribute in a meaningful way to the child or young person’s 
achievement of their full potential

P
age 23



14

1. What action has the local 
authority undertaken to support 
children and young people with 
specific needs

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Service and team plans, self-evaluation for LACESYP (KQs), reviews of specialist provision including PRUs, ESTYN 
inspection reports for schools, EIBs, monitoring of standards of vulnerable groups, comparison of data at a local, regional 
and national level, including exclusions and attendance, monitoring of individual pupil progress at annual reviews, 
transitional reviews, extraordinary reviews including pupils accessing EOTAS provision and pupils accessing out of 
county provision, progress of LAC pupils, monitoring disapplication levels

ALNco meetings, ALNco training programs, local and regional, training of LSAs

Review of specialist support services, capacity, training and delivery of improved outcomes for pupils, HI, VI, Speech and 
Language, special school and SNRB outcomes, also including EPS and ASD support, LAC support
Co-construction of policies and planning, regional commissioning of specialist services.

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
The Service is undertaking an 
assessment of demand for specialist 
support?

The Service Is undertaking reviews 
of likely future need (ongoing 
assessment of the type and capacity 
to deliver ALP to meet likely future 
needs)?

 Service has robust 
procedures to constantly 
review the demands for 
specialist support and 
respond accordingly

 Future needs are 
assessed and provision 
panning undertaken on a 
regular basis.

 The Service is developing 
procedures to review 
demand for specialist 
places

 Responding to demand in 
future is being developed

 The Service is 
considering how to 
assess demand and is 
discussing how to 
respond to future 
demands and adjust 
provision/support 
accordingly

Review is currently 
being undertaken 

Undertakes assessments of the 
capacity of specialist support staff – 
including specialist teachers and 
ALNcos with specialist 
training/experience

Undertakes an assessment of 
capacity in LA to work with children 
who require specialist service? 

Has developed an action plan to 

 The Service reviews it’s 
capacity on a regular 
basis at LA and school 
level and adjusts 
support/provision 
accordingly

 An action plan is in place 
which includes identifying 
the need to train 
additional specialist staff 
to sustain support e.g. 

 The Service is at the start 
of reviewing specialist 
support and provision and 
to plan accordingly

 An action plan is being 
developed to consider 
future need

 This is being considered
 An action plan has been 

discussed

As a consortium we 
have applied for WG 
grant for Sensory 
Workforce 
Development; 
internally we have 
addressed shortfalls 
for HI and VI (recruited 
and filled posts) and 
funded training as 
required. 

P
age 24



15

overcome any gaps in capacity? including regional 
services such as 
SENCOM,EPS

Puts in place practices for ensuring 
specialist staff are up-to-date with 
evidence on effective interventions 
to support young people with ALN?

 Regular sessions to 
upskill specialist services 
staff and LA support staff 
are undertaken, including 
building CPD 
opportunities into 
individual and team work 
plans

 Organises regular training 
sessions for school based 
staff

 A training programme is 
in place that responds to 
local and regional need.

 Sessions for specialist 
staff are organised

 LA staff can access 
opportunities to upskill 
themselves

 There are some 
organised sessions for 
school-based staff which 
follow a development 
plan and is addressing a 
training plan that will 
respond to local and 
regional need

 Some sessions have 
been put in place

 LA staff can access CPD 
for their individual needs

 School based staff have 
access to some 
organised sessions but 
no pan has been 
developed as yet to meet 
local and regional need

It has been identified 
that the quality of 
agency and LA LSA 
staff needs 
addressing; 
effectiveness tbc; QA 
plan to be put in place; 
training for students 
on college courses tbc    

Engage with other LAs in the region 
to develop collective planning, 
commissioning and provision of 
specialist services?

 There is clear evidence of 
joint commissioning of 
specialist services and 
regional services are very 
much supported at 
Director/local politician 
level.

 There is evidence of 
regional collaborative 
planning to meet the 
requirements of the Act.

 There is evidence of 
regional services being in 
place

 Some joint 
commissioning has taken 
place or is planned for in 
future

 Collaborative regional 
planning is developing.

 Some regional planning 
takes place

 Central services are 
being discussed to meet 
local and regional need, 
which is leading to 
discussions around joint 
commissioning.

EP and VI jointly 
commissioned with 
RCT; processes in 
place  with Health and 
RCT in respect of 
specialist equipment 

2. What actions has the department 
undertaken to support improved 
outcomes for young people with 
ALN

Putting in place practices and 
processes to track progress of 
young people with LA maintained 
IDPs? 

 Robust monitoring of pupil 
progress for statemented 
(LA maintained IDPs) 
pupils is in place including 
those pupils who are 

 Statemented pupils 
progress is monitored

 Monitoring of specialist 
provision is being 
developed

 Statemented pupils are 
monitored to track 
progress but challenge is 
yet to be robustly used 
especially to out of county 

More robust tracking 
needs to be developed; 
high level data needs 
to be provided. 

P
age 25



16

EOTAS or in Out of 
County placements.

 Specialist provision is 
held accountable for pupil 
progress and is quality 
assured at least annually

 Pupils attainment is 
routinely tracked and 
reported to LA and 
consortia and is reported 
and compared regionally

 Some tracking reporting 
of attainment takes place 
but is not yet reported 
and compared regionally 

placements
 Specialist provision 

monitoring arrangements 
are in discussion

 Tracking and reporting is 
developing locally



Putting in place practices and 
processes to track progress of 
young people with school 
maintained IDPs?

Putting in place practices and 
processes to assure ALP is 
appropriate for the needs of the 
young person

 The school robustly tracks 
the progress of those 
pupils with school-based 
IDPs using target setting.

 Schools are 
challenged/supported by 
the LA/consortia through 
EIBs etc. to raise 
achievement

 The school tracks the 
progress of pupils and 
uses target setting

 The external 
challenge/support is 
being developed

 Some tracking of pupil 
progress takes place, 
target setting is being 
developed

 External challenge and 
support is being 
discussed at LA and 
consortia level

There is variation in 
the quality of the IDP 
and inconsistency in 
its use. 

Ensuring all schools have access to 
a qualified ALNco? If not, when does 
the department intend to do this? 

Putting in place practices and 
processes to ensure all ALNcos are 
kept up-to-date with the latest 
evidence on effective support for 
young people with ALN

 Nearly all schools have a 
qualified ALNco

 ALNco meetings are held 
regularly to upskill staff 
and an LA/Consortia CPD 
programme is available to 
schools

 Most schools have  a 
qualified ALNco

 ALNco meetings are held 
to upskill staff and an 
LA/Consortia CPD 
programme is being 
developed

 Some schools have a 
qualified ALNco

 ALNco meetings are 
taking place

 A CPD programme is 
being discussed

Increased status of 
ALNCo needs to be 
bolstered within some 
schools; consortium 
training programme 
tbc “qualified” ALNCo 
– what does this 
mean? 

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

F.  Increased Collaboration 

The new system will support a strong focus on collaboration.  Encouraging improved collaboration and information sharing between agencies, which are essential 
to ensuring that needs are identified early and the right support is put in place to enable children and young people to achieve positive outcomes. Three 

P
age 26



17

fundamental new roles are created by the Bill to facilitate increased collaboration – Additional Learning Needs Coordinators in education settings; Designated 
Educational Clinical Lead Officers in health board; and Early Years ALN Lead Officers in local authorities.

1. What action has the department 
undertaken to increase 
collaborative working 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?

Collaborative working will include all LAs within the region and the consortia for school improvement as well as the 
active involvement of LHBs and Social Services and other partners such as dispute resolution services, specialist 
services.

The work may include:
Developing regional strategies, Implementation plans, IDP design and processes, joint commissioning of services, 
supporting regional specialist services, developing protocols for sharing information

The planning should include working collaboratively with; children and young people; parents, FEIs, specialised 
independent colleges, schools/ALNcos, independent schools, youth offending teams, early year’s providers.

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
Has the department developed a 
plan for increasing collaborative 
working with partner organisations

 Collaborative work is 
planned for and evident 
including work a with a 
wide range of partners 
and 
collaboration/consultation 
with a wide range of 
stakeholders

 Collaborative work is 
developing, planning is in 
place and a range of 
stakeholders and 
partners are being 
engaged

 Collaborative work is 
being planned for and 
partners and 
stakeholders have been 
identified

Further engagement 
from Health and Social 
Services is required; 
good collaboration 
with EYs, MIA and 
these models need to 
be replicated. 

2. Does the department intend to 
put in place systems for 
analysing multi-agency data to 
inform strategic planning and 
disagreement 
avoidance/resolution

 Data is being shared 
across partners on a 
regular basis to inform 
planning e.g. specialist 
provision planning, 
specialist service/staff 
planning

 Protocols and procedures 
are established

 Data is beginning to be 
shared with some 
partners, and is used to 
inform planning is 
developing

 Protocols and procedures 
are being developing

 Data sharing with 
partners is being 
considered and 
discussed. It is not 
available as yet to inform 
planning

 Protocols and procedures 
are being discussed

P
age 27



18

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

G.  Avoiding disagreements and early disagreement resolution

The new system will focus on ensuring that where disagreements occur about an IDP or the provision it contains, the matter is considered and resolved at the most 
local level possible.

1. Does the department currently 
monitor the number of 
complaints about ALN planning 
and provision? 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?
Collected, collated and shared data may include
 Complaints about planning provision (assessment and review of statutory and non-statutory provision)
 Complaints about provision (statutory and non-statutory)
 Complaints to local authorities
 Complaints to schools 

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional 
resources are 

required?
2. What action has the department 

taken to avoid and resolve 
disagreements? 

 There are clearly 
established protocols to 
avoid and resolve 
disagreements, including 
supportive trained LA staff 
and/or access to external 
mediation .advocacy

 Practice to avoid and 
resolve disagreements 
are evident. Protocols are 
being developed to 
ensure consistency of 
approach

 Resolution is practised 
however it is rather on an 
ad hoc basis. Protocols 
are being considered to 
ensure a consistent 
approach

Developing practices and processes 
for children, young people and 
parents to raise concerns and have 
questions answered

 There is evidence of a 
supportive and 
consultative culture. 
Pupils and parents are 
engaged through then 
PCP process and fully 
involved.

 The service adheres to 
the Children’s 
Participation standards

 There is evidence of a 
supportive and open 
culture developing. Pupils 
and parents are engaged 
in some cases

 The service is developing 
it’s response to the 
Children’s Participation 
standards 

P
age 28



19

Extending existing arrangements to 
include children who do not yet 
attend school
Extending existing arrangements to 
include young people up to the age 
of 25 who attend further education?
Drafted an implementation plan and 
timetable?  

 Early years work is well-
established and robust 
transition procedures are 
in place. Disagreement 
resolution is evident for 
EYs pupils and parents

 An implementation plan 
has been developed to 
extend existing 
arrangements to 25

 Early years work is 
evident and transition 
procedures are in place. 
Disagreement resolution 
is available for EYs pupils 
and parents

 An implementation plan is  
being developed to 
extend existing 
arrangements

 Some early year’s liaison 
is in place but is not well-
established. 
Disagreement resolution 
is being planned to 
extend existing 
arrangements to early 
years and up to 25 for 
pupils and parents/carers

Developed procurement strategies if 
appropriate? 
Developed service level agreements 
if appropriate?
Developed/refined/extended in-
house approaches/services to 
avoid/resolve disagreements if 
appropriate?

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place 
and monitored for 
effectiveness

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place 
and monitored 

 Dispute disagreement 
processes are in place

Processes for high 
level data reports tbc

Raised awareness across service 
providers of Welsh Government 
commissioned training on the 
provisions in the bill? 

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of training 
available

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of training 
available

 Provider/s have been 
made aware of training 
available

Additional Notes

Requirements of ALN ACT 2018

H.  A bilingual system 
 Services will be required to consider whether the child or young person needs ALP in Welsh.  If they do, this must be documented in the IDP and ‘all reasonable 

steps’ must be taken to secure the provision in Welsh.
 A series of strategic duties are also aimed at driving progress towards a truly bilingual ALN system and the Bill includes a mechanism so that the duties to 

provide ALP through the medium of Welsh become absolute over time.
 Equalities legislation requires “reasonable adjustments” to access documentation in other community languages

1. What action has the department 
taken to support children and 
young people though the 

Evidence – How are we doing? What should we be doing?

Capacity assessments, action plans, audit of staff skills in Welsh, access to other ICT based solutions, sharing expertise 

P
age 29



20

medium of Welsh throughout 
the ALN system?

locally/regionally e.g. Welsh ALNco group meetings
Investment in Welsh medium resources for ALN, adaptation of Welsh language resources, planning for specialist provision 
including early years, Post 16-25

GREEN INDICATORS
(Secure)

YELLOW INDICATORS
(Developing) AMBER INDICATORS

(Emerging)

What do we need to 
support us?

What additional resources 
are required?

Undertaken an assessment of 
capacity in the LA to carry out 
assessments and reviews, and to 
deliver provision, though the 
medium of Welsh?
Developed an action plan to 
overcome any gaps in capacity?

 Capacity assessments 
have been undertaken 
and sustainability 
planned for through 
effective planning

 Capacity assessments 
have been undertaken 
and planning is taking 
place to meet need 
current and future need

 Capacity assessments 
are being planned to 
meet requirements of Act

Developed criteria for establishing 
whether ALP via the medium of 
Welsh is required?
Undertaken an assessment of data 
about demand for, and supply of, 
assessment, planning and 
provision through the medium of 
Welsh?

 Resources, assessment, 
planning and provision 
through the medium of 
Welsh has been 
effectively planned for to 
meet current and future 
needs

 Resources, assessment, 
planning and provision 
through the medium of 
Welsh has is being 
planned for to meet 
current and future needs

 Resources, assessment, 
planning and provision 
through the medium of 
Welsh is being 
considered to meet 
current and future needs

A staff member from one 
of our Welsh Medium 
schools is part of the PCP 
Working group and has 
provided input. 

Additional Notes

P
age 30



Appendix 2

Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal Wales Act
Central South Regional Project Plan 2018-2019

P
age 31



The purpose of this project is to ensure that the Central South Region is able to meet the requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal Act in transforming expectations and outcomes for children and young people with additional learning needs (ALN). Implementation of the new 
requirements will begin in September 2020 and be completed by the end of 2023.  

This transformed system will:
 ensure that all learners with ALN are supported to overcome barriers to learning and achieve their full potential;
 improve the planning and delivery of support for learners from 0 to 25 with ALN, placing learners’ needs, views, wishes and feelings at the heart of 

the process; and
 focus on the importance of identifying needs early and putting in place timely and effective interventions which are monitored and adapted to 

ensure they deliver the desired outcomes.

The Central South region will do this by:
1. Creating a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary regional implementation plan that underpins the successful transition to the new way of working 
2. Delivering an awareness raising programme that ensures all professionals, parents, carers, children and young people and the third sector receive 

timely information about the reforms and associated timescales.
3. Implementing a comprehensive workforce development plan that is compliant with the ALNET Act and complementary to the wider national 

education reforms.
4. Developing support and provision for post compulsory school-aged learners through identifying local offers and where possible consider regional 

solutions to meet complex needs.
5. Ensuring that the new statutory expectations for early years are understood and delivered and that appropriate support is provided to increase 

capacity in early years’ settings.
6. Improving strategic engagement with health to support the establishment of the statutory role of the Designated Educational Clinical Lead Officer 

and develop shared expectations and supportive working practices.
7. Reviewing and improving Welsh medium provision and specialist support to increase regional capacity.
8. Supporting the rights of the child and young person with ALN through the development of user-friendly practices that clearly explain and promote 

their rights of appeal.

This project plan is funded by the Transformation Grant, allocated on a formula funding basis (70% pupil numbers and 30% school numbers). The grant is 
available for 4 years and is currently in its second year. The Central South region has £783,000 for this financial year to support the above priorities.

This project plan is underpinned by more detailed operational plans for each priority which include measurable outcomes, milestones and costs. The 
progress of the project is monitored by the Regional Project Team and the Regional ALN Steering Group.

P
age 32



Summary of strategic priorities and objectives

PRIORITY 1: Create a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary regional implementation plan that underpins the successful transition to the new way of working

Objectives: 
Funding allocation £35,000
1.1 Establish a steering group to provide strategic direction in developing a joint and shared vision for effective multi-agency collaboration for 

the new way or working.  
1.2 Develop strategic partnerships with local health boards

1.3 Develop collaborative working arrangements with children’s and adult social care services

1.4 Improve strategic links at a regional and local level with further education colleges to develop an agreed vision for inclusion and supporting 
the needs of learners with additional learning needs.

1.5 Create a multi-disciplinary ALN Transformation Project Board to ensure a consistent and regional approach to local implementation.

1.6 Increase capacity within the region to develop effective principles, policies and working practices to meet needs of the Act.

PRIORITY 2: Deliver an awareness raising programme that ensures all professionals, school governors, parents, carers, children and young people and 
the third sector receive timely information about the reforms and associated timescales.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £25,000
2.1 Develop an agreed communication strategy to support the implementation of the ALNET Act  

2.2 Ensure consistency in approach by creating capacity at a regional level to co-ordinate the communications strategy 

2.3 Ensure that all activities, materials and documentation are provided bilingually.

2.4 Continue to use a range of strategies to engage and raise awareness of all partners working with children and young people with additional 
learning needs.

2.5 Promote effective practice in relation to ALN and Inclusion by working with all partners, identifying best practice, developing case studies 
and sharing through local and regional systems.

P
age 33



PRIORITY 3: Implement a comprehensive workforce development plan that is compliant with the ALNET Act and complementary to the wider national 
education reforms.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £373,000
3.1 Develop a coherent and comprehensive professional learning offer for staff working with pupils ALN.

3.2 Develop school-led collaborative improvement models for ALN.

3.3 Increase the capacity of professionals to become research-engaged and well-informed about good practice in meeting the needs of pupils 
with ALN.

3.4 Develop support for schools to implement the principles of schools as learning organisations to include the needs of all pupils.

3.5 Ensure that all school improvement professionals are competent in supporting schools to implement the new way of working.

3.6 Ensure that LA-based staff are well-informed about the ALN Transformation Programme and how it supports the wider educational reforms.

P
age 34



PRIORITY 4: Develop support and provision for post compulsory-aged learners through identifying local and potential regional offers.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £100,000
4.1 Work in partnership with further education colleges to scope what is available at a local level and identify gaps in provision.

4.2 Work collaboratively with strategic partners to consider the feasibility of regional specialist provision for learners with complex needs.

4.3 Create guidance for young people detailing the local offer.

4.4 Identify professional development needs of further education staff to meet learner needs.

4.5 Implement the transition protocols developed by each LA to improve transition to further education.

4.6 Support innovative pilots to enhance transition arrangements from schools to colleges.

PRIORITY 5: Ensure that the new statutory expectations for early years are understood and delivered and that appropriate support is provided to 
increase capacity in early years’ settings.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £50,000
5.1 Secure engagement from strategic partners to improve multi-agency working and develop a shared understanding of assessment and 

evidence-based practice to meet needs.
5.2 Develop a regional approach to the early years’ ALN lead role to secure compliance by 2019

5.3 Develop a regional training plan that covers raising awareness of the ALNET Act, trains practitioners in PCP, identifies and disseminates good 
practice in early years’ provision across the region.

P
age 35



PRIORITY 6: Improve strategic engagement with health to support the establishment of the statutory role of the Designated Educational Clinical Lead 
Officer and develop shared expectations and supportive working practices.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £70,000
6.1 Map and gap analysis undertaken across each local health board to identify strengths and areas for development.

6.2 Formal strategic liaison mechanisms established between local health boards and LAs to develop joint assessment approaches. 

6.3 Develop and promote shared understanding of preventative approaches and evidence-informed interventions.

6.4 Identify training needs of health professionals in relation to the ALNET Act.

6.5 Provide support for appropriate health professional to develop person-centred-practice.

PRIORITY 7: Review and improve Welsh medium provision and specialist support to increase regional capacity.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £12,000
7.1 Conduct an analysis of the prevalence of ALN and level of need in the Welsh medium sector in each LA.

7.2 Map Welsh medium provision and support available across the region.

7.3 Increase sharing of good practice for ALN in the Welsh medium sector.

7.4 Analyse pupil transfers from Welsh medium to English medium settings and establish if they are related to ALN.

7.5 Ensure that the regional ALNET Act transformation implementation plan supports and complements regional WESP priorities. 

P
age 36



PRIORITY 8: Support the rights of the child and young person with ALN through the development of user-friendly practices that clearly explain processes 
and what support they can expect to receive as well as promoting their rights of appeal.

Objectives: 
Funding allocation: £118,000
8.1 Embed the practice of ensuring that all pupils with ALN have a say in what is important for and to them.

8.2 Establish parent forums and consultative groups of children and young people to actively seek views of how best to provide support about 
the new ALN system.

8.3 Ensure that children and young people are fully consulted on developing easily accessible mediation and dispute resolution services that 
meet their needs. 

8.4 Work with schools, early years’ settings and colleges to develop a shared understanding of the role of informal mediation at the most local 
level possible.

8.5 Develop mediation and dispute resolution pathways for children and young adults who wish to challenge the contents of their IDPs or its 
provisionP

age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Report

SUBJECT: ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS AND EDUCATIONAL 
TRIBUNAL (ALN ET) ACT

REPORT BY: LIZ JONES, ALN TRANSFORMATION LEAD CENTRAL SOUTH REGION

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update members on the work undertaken across the region to       
prepare for the Additional Learning Needs (ALN) and Tribunal (Wales) Act (2018).

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1      It is recommended that members note the contents of the report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill was passed by the       
National Assembly for Wales on 12 December 2017 and after receiving Royal Assent became 
the Additional Learning Needs Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 (ALNET) on 24 January 
2018.

The ALNET aims to create: 
 a unified legislative framework to support all children of compulsory school age or below 

with additional learning needs (ALN) and to support young people with ALN who are in 
school or further education (FE) 

 an integrated, collaborative process of assessment, planning and monitoring which 
facilitates early, timely and effective interventions 

 a fair and transparent system for providing information and advice, and for resolving 
concerns and appeals. 

3.2      It is expected that the ALN system set out in the Act will be fully implemented over a three-
year period. The implementation period is expected to run from September 2020 to August 
2023.

This transformed system will:
 ensure that all learners with ALN are supported to overcome barriers to learning and 

achieve their full potential;
 improve the planning and delivery of support for learners from 0 to 25 with ALN, placing 

learners’ needs, views, wishes and feelings at the heart of the process; and

Page 39



 focus on the importance of identifying needs early and putting in place timely and 
effective interventions which are monitored and adapted to ensure they deliver the 
desired outcomes.

3.3 For the time being, local authorities and all those who work with children and young people 
with SEN, must ensure that they continue to comply with the duties placed upon them by the 
Education Act 1996. They must also continue to have regard to the SEN Code of Practice for 
Wales (2002).

3.4 In order to support the implementation of this new system the Welsh Government is providing 
financial assistance through the ALN Transformation Grant. This is the second year of the four 
financial years that the grant will be available. The money is delegated via a host local 
authority acting on behalf of the authorities in the region, using the same footprint as the four 
regional education consortia. The grant must be used on a regional strategic basis and 
consideration should be given to regional sustainability beyond the life time of the grant.  

3.5 The ALN transformation grant should be used by the host local authority to employ a regional 
ALN transformation lead. The transformation lead is responsible for the delivery of a strategic 
programme of work agreed by local authorities to support preparation by consortia, 
maintained early years settings, schools, further education institutes and local health boards 
of the duties conferred to them by the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act 2018, and to ensure financial accountability.

3.6 The conditions of the grant spend stipulate that there has to be in place a:
 regional implementation plan,
 state of the region summary document, detailing areas to focus on in preparing for 

transition to the new ALN system, 
 multi-agency regional Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 

training plan.

3.7 The work undertaken to date demonstrates that the Central South Region has accurately 
analysed needs and identified strategic priorities to support the transformation programme 
and, in doing so, has met the pre-conditions for authorisation of grant spend. 

3.8 Members are requested to consider the progress to date and to be aware of the continued 
expectations on local authorities and other strategic partners to deliver against the wide-
ranging transformation programme. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Between March and July 2018 extensive analysis was carried out across the region to identify 
strengths and areas for development. Full co-operation was obtained between all five local 
authorities, four further education colleges, two health boards and the Central South 
Consortium. Following these activities a summary document detailing the state of the region 
was created as well as a consequent regional implementation plan. 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 On September 4th the regional plan was ratified by the Directors of Education with the 
subsequent inaugural meeting of the ALN Regional Project Board taking place on the 17th 
September. A copy of the plan is attached for further information. The plan aligns support to 
the objectives of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal Act so that local 
authorities, the consortium, schools, further education colleges and local health boards 

Page 40



collaborate to transform the expectations, experiences and outcomes for children and young 
people with additional learning needs.

The identified regional priorities include:
1. Creating a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary regional implementation plan that underpins 

the successful transition to the new way of working 
2. Delivering an awareness raising programme that ensures all professionals, parents, 

carers, children and young people and the third sector receive timely information about 
the reforms and associated timescales.

3. Implementing a comprehensive workforce development plan that is compliant with the 
ALNET Act and complementary to the wider national education reforms.

4. Developing support and provision for post compulsory-aged learners through identifying 
local offers and where possible consider regional solutions to meet complex needs.

5. Ensuring that the new statutory expectations for early years are understood and delivered 
and that appropriate support is provided to increase capacity in early years’ settings.

6. Improving strategic engagement with health to support the establishment of the statutory 
role of the Designated Educational Clinical Lead Officer and develop shared expectations 
and supportive working practices.

7. Reviewing Welsh medium provision and specialist support to increased regional capacity 
through the development of best practice Welsh language learning pathways.

8. Supporting the rights of the child and young person with ALN through the development of 
user-friendly practices that clearly explain and promote their rights of appeal.

5.2 A multi-agency, multi-disciplinary steering group is in the process of being formed. Governance 
structures are in place as are performance management processes to ensure that the project 
remains on task, within the confines of the grant spend recommendations and monitors 
financial accountability.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 All local authorities need to be able to demonstrate that: 
 the implications of the Act and Code are clearly understood. 
 there is promotion of effective joint working with other agencies; taking account of god 

practice; using resources efficiently; encouraging flexibility and creativity and being solution 
focussed. 

 there are effective working relationships with parents and carers.
 services are developed flexibly to meet needs and keeping under review the arrangements 

made both by the LA and governing bodies of maintained schools in our area, for pupils 
with ALN, in order to assess and respond to future needs.

 processes and procedures are developed in advance of implementation date(s).
 any other developments within the LA re: ALN services/provision will be compliant with the 

Act.

6.2 All local authorities can demonstrate progress in complying with the requirements of the ALNET 
Act as measured on the LA ALN Readiness Survey.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Local authorities must be prepared to implement the new system in line with the prescribed 
timescales starting in September 2020, with the complete system becoming operational from 
September 2023.  It is essential that LAs adopt a person centred approach and develops 
systems and plans that mirror the principles of the Act without compromising the current 
systems. There will be two systems operating from 2020-2023, therefore the LA must ensure 
effective work with colleagues, parents and children to manage this transition.

Page 41



7.2 Priorities for the Central South region are outlined in the ALN Regional Implementation Plan 
and the focus is on seeking to secure coherent and collaborative regional working in relation 
to the identified key priorities. 

7.3 The Central South ALN Project Board, ALN Transformation Steering Group, Central South 
education directors and school improvement consortium, the CSC, will work together over the 
next 3 years (to March 2021) in partnership with the Welsh Government to prepare all 
stakeholders.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The well-being goals and principles prescribed for within the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act 2015 connect directly to the objectives of the ALN ET Act. The ALNET Act is consistent 
with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development principle and 
more specifically as follows:

o Collaboration – a fundamental principal of the Act focuses on improving collaboration 
and creating a unified system.

o Involvement- ensuring that pupils, parents and carers are at the heart of the system
o Long term – the Act focuses on meeting the needs of children from 0-25
o Prevention – the focus of the Act on early identification of need and ensuring 

appropriate provision to meet needs.

9.0 EQUALITIES ACT

9.1 The Act and Code clearly articulate the Equalities Act (2010) statutory requirements. 

Page 42



Civic Centre, Castle Street,   
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
 
 
 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen  

Value for Money – Education Services/ Gwerth am 
Arian - Gwasanaethau Addysg 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide information in respect of „Value for Money‟ 

which was Recommendation 8 in the Post Inspection Action Plan – “Develop and 
implement systems to judge whether initiatives and services have a positive impact 
on children and young people and offer good value for money”. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Recommendation 8 arising from the Estyn inspection undertaken in November 2012 

reads as follows: 
 

“Develop and implement systems to judge whether initiatives and services have a 
positive impact on children and young people and offer good value for money.” 

 
3.2 In responding to the recommendation Merthyr Tydfil through its Estyn approved Post 

Inspection Action Plan (PIAP) quotes the following „Measures of Success‟: 
 

(a) Systems are in place which better judge the increasingly positive impact of 
initiatives and services on children and young people outcomes 

(b) Systems are in place which better judge the value for money of initiatives and 
services for children and young people 

Date Written 1st October 2018 

Report Author Steve Jones 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 15th October 2018 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



(c) Systems are in place which better judge the cost effectiveness of initiatives and 
services for children and young people 

(d) Comparisons are made across Wales and with similar local authorities, at least 
annually, between budget, staffing etc. (input) and children and young people 
outcomes (output) 

(e) The comparisons support the annual self-evaluation process and help inform 
decisions about the cost effectiveness of services and initiatives, whether they 
offer value for money and whether they should be continued, reconfigured or 
ceased 

(f) Funding is directed towards the greatest need based on efficiency and 
effectiveness criteria, Priority Outcomes and Corporate Plan 

(g) Quality Assurance Systems have been developed with the Joint Education 
Service (JES) to assess the effectiveness of the Systems Leader in securing 
school improvement through appropriate use of the individual school plans 
including School Effectiveness Grant (SEG) and Pupil Deprivation Grant (PDG) 
spending plans 

 

4.0 VALUE FOR MONEY CONCEPT 
 
4.1 It is proposed that the most appropriate definition of Value for Money (VFM) when 

applied to the public sector is one used by the National Audit Office in undertaking its 
VFM audits.   

 
“VFM is about obtaining the maximum benefit over time with the resources available. 
It is about achieving the right local balance between economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness, or, spending less, spending well and spending wisely to achieve local 
priorities...VFM is high when there is an optimum balance between all three 
elements, when costs are relatively low, productivity is high and successful 
outcomes have been achieved.” 

 
 “Good VFM is the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcome” 
 
4.2 The assessment of VFM thus involves examining each of the 3 elements of VFM, 

identifying the links between them and drawing conclusions based on evidence 
about how well they perform together. The definitions also refer to an optimal 
balance suggesting that it is not the case that the cheapest option always represents 
better value for money, and pointing to the conversion of inputs-outputs and outputs-
outcomes as the subject of real interest in value for money judgements as outlined in 
Figure 1. 

 
Figure 1 – Defining Value for Money 

 
 

 
  

Page 44



 
4.3 In this model, the following definitions apply: 
  

Economy: „a measure of what goes into providing a service‟. This costs inputs. Unit 
costs are typically used as an economy measure. „The whole life costs of inputs such 
as the direct and indirect costs of acquiring, running and disposing of assets or 
resources should be considered‟.  

 
Efficiency: „a measure of productivity, in other words how much you get out in 
relation to what is put in‟. This examines the relationship between inputs and outputs; 
for example, planned versus actual delivery of milestones by service providers, or 
benchmarked comparison among programmes working to same or similar outcomes 
but using different pathways to achieve intended outcomes.  

 
Effectiveness: Qualitative and quantitative measures of increase or decrease in 
outcomes that show that a programme „is effective in delivering its intended 
objectives‟. This examines the relationship between outputs and outcomes. 

  
4.4 These definitions suggest a significant role for indicators in VFM assessment since 

they provide „a measure of productivity‟ (efficiency) and „qualitative and quantitative 
measures of increase or decrease in outcomes‟ (effectiveness). Consequently the 
quality of these indicators and the accessibility of data to support measurement of 
progress against them have important implications for VFM. 

 

5.0 VALUE FOR MONEY ASSESSMENTS 
 
5.1 In responding to the defined „Measures of Success‟ in respect of cost-effectiveness 

and value for money, high level analyses were undertaken against specific measures 
in comparing Merthyr Tydfil CBC against all other Welsh Local Authorities. This 
exercise assists in formulating pertinent questions in determining whether or not it 
can be demonstrated that value for money is being achieved.  

 
5.2 In facilitating the desired high level analyses, comparable data was diagrammatically 

presented, in the format illustrated in Figure 2, for the following specific measures: 
 

 KS2 CSI assessments against gross schools budgeted expenditure per pupil 

 KS4 L2+ results against gross schools budgeted expenditure per pupil 

 Youth Service attainment against gross youth service spend per person 

 Youth Service engagement against gross youth service spend per person 
 
5.3 In addition, Merthyr Tydfil was compared against the Welsh average for the period 

2009/10 to 2013/14 for the following measures:  
  

 Exclusions from schools 

 Absenteeism in schools 

 Gross schools budgeted expenditure per pupil  
 

These measures are included within this report to begin to consider the potential 
impact of exclusions, absenteeism and funding on attainment.  

 
5.4 This briefing paper is an update to Appendix 3 to the report “Improving the Quality 

and Performance of Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young 
People” relating to Recommendation 8 and presented to Cabinet of 15th July 2015. 

Page 45



The previous paper considered the position up to financial year 2013/14 whereas 
this paper considers the position up to financial year 2016/17. Where published data 
is available to enable meaningful comparisons between Merthyr Tydfil and the Welsh 
average, the position up to financial year 2017/18 is included. 

 
Figure 2 – Value for Money Charts  

 

 
 

5.5 In recognising the positioning of each Local Authority in any respective sector in 
relation to the average position for Wales, the following questions begin to arise: 

 
 Top Left Sector – higher than average attainment / lower than average 

budgeted expenditure 

 Does this demonstrate good value for money? 

 Are there any specific successful initiatives being undertaken? 

  
 Top Right Sector – higher than average attainment / higher than average 

budgeted expenditure 

 Can expenditure be reduced whilst maintaining higher than average 
achievement? 

 Has increased investment been targeted for initiatives which have resulted 
in a positive return on investment through improved outcomes?  

  
 Bottom Left Sector – lower than average attainment / lower than average 

budgeted expenditure 

 Is lower than average expenditure the reason for the lower than average 
achievement? 

 Will increasing expenditure result in improved outcomes? 
 

 Bottom Right Sector – lower than average attainment / higher than average 
budgeted expenditure 

 Does this demonstrate poor value for money? 

 Is investment been utilised or targeted wisely? 
 

Page 46



6.0 KEY STAGE 2 CORE SUBJECT INDICATOR (KS2 CSI) 
 
6.1 The Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator measures the percentage of pupils 

achieving the expected level, i.e. Level 4, in each of the core subjects, namely 
English, Mathematics and Science (and also in Welsh for Welsh medium schools) in 
teacher assessments. The Key Stage 2 results relate to 11 year olds, being the final 
year in Primary School. 

 
6.2 Figure 3 illustrates Merthyr Tydfil‟s attainment at KS2 for the period 2011/12 to 

2017/18 in comparison with the Welsh average. Figure 3 demonstrates a consistent 
narrowing of the gap to the Welsh average until 2014/15 until attainment exceeds the 
Welsh average for 2015/16 and 2016/17. Disappointingly Merthyr Tydfil‟s attainment 
falls below the Welsh average for 2017/18.   

 
 Figure 3 – Key Stage 2 Attainment 
  

  
 
6.3 This improved position against the Welsh average has resulted in Merthyr Tydfil 

ranked 8th in attainment at KS2 in Wales for 2016/17 whereas in 2011/12 it was 
ranked 22nd. The 2017/18 individual data is currently unavailable. 

 
6.4 In beginning to ask questions in respect of value for money, Figure 4 illustrates 

comparisons between all Welsh Local Authorities for 2016/17 against attainment and 
budget. It is evident that Merthyr Tydfil is above average attainment and above 
average funding. This begs the question is good value for money being achieved 
with above Welsh average funding delivering above Welsh average attainment? 

 
 
 
  
  

77.3% 

81.2% 

84.2% 

87.4% 

89.2% 
90.2% 

88.3% 

82.6% 

84.3% 

86.1% 
87.7% 

88.6% 
89.5% 

89.5% 

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

Merthyr Tydfil (%) Wales Average (%)

Page 47



Figure 4 – Key Stage 2 CSI (VFM Assessment) 
 

  
 
6.5 It is however important to recognise the improved and consistently improving 

attainment demonstrated in Merthyr Tydfil during the period 2011/12 (Estyn 
inspection results) to the latest available individual Local Authority results of 2016/17. 
This is illustrated in Figure 5.   

 
 Figure 5 – Improvement in KS2 Outcomes 2011/12 to 2016/17 

  
 
  

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Conwy 
Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 
Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthen 

Swansea 

NPT 

Bridgend 

V of G 

RCT Merthyr Tydfil 
Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 
Wales 

Torfaen 

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

5,000 5,200 5,400 5,600 5,800 6,000 6,200 6,400 6,600

A
ch

ie
vi

n
g 

K
S2

 (
%

) 

Gross Schools Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 
Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthenshire 

Swansea 
NPT 

Bridgend 

V of G 

RCT 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

-200 -100 0 100 200 300 400 500

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

in
 A

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t 
(%

) 

Change in Gross Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Page 48



6.6 It is evident from Figure 5 that Merthyr Tydfil has experienced the greatest rate of 
improvement in Wales of 12.9% over the 6 year period 2011/12 to 2016/17 whilst 
experiencing the 2nd greatest increase in gross budgeted expenditure per pupil of 
£360 over the same period. The questions arising from the VFM chart include the 
following: 

 
 Although the rate of increased spending is greater than the Welsh average 

does the corresponding positive rate of increase in attainment demonstrate 
good value for money? 

 Is above Welsh average funding acceptable if it delivers above average 
improvement in outcomes? 

 Is there a direct correlation between increased funding and increased 
outcomes i.e. has the increased funding been targeted for improvement 
initiatives resulting in improved outcomes?    

  

7.0 KEY STAGE 4 LEVEL 2 ABOVE THRESHOLD (KS4 L2+) 
 
7.1 The KS4 L2+ relates to where pupils have achieved the Level 2 threshold including a 

GCSE grade A*-C in English or Welsh first language and mathematics. 
 
7.2 Figure 6 illustrates Merthyr Tydfil‟s attainment at KS4 for the period 2011/12 to 

2016/17 in comparison with the average for Wales. Up until 2013/14, Figure 6 
demonstrates a consistent narrowing of the gap in attainment to the Welsh average, 
since the Estyn inspection of November 2012. For the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 
attainment, although improving year on year, has made no further progress against 
the Welsh average being 6% to 6.5% below. Disappointingly attainment has fallen 
sharply for 2016/17 resulting in Merthyr Tydfil being 12.2% below the Welsh 
average, even allowing for a 5.7% fall in the Welsh average attainment figure.   

 
 Figure 6 – Key Stage 4 Attainment 
 

  
 
7.3 The disappointing attainment results for 2016/17 have resulted in Merthyr Tydfil 

falling from a ranking of 19th in 2015/16 to 21st in 2016/17.  This is clearly 
demonstrated in Figure 7 which illustrates comparisons between all Welsh Local 
Authorities for 2016/17 against attainment and budget. 

 
  
  

32.5% 38.7% 

48.9% 

51.9% 
53.9% 

42.4% 

51.1% 
52.7% 

55.4% 
57.9% 

60.3% 

54.6% 

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Page 49



Figure 7 – Key Stage 4 Level 2+ (VFM Assessment) 
 

  
 
7.4 Merthyr Tydfil‟s disappointing attainment achievement for 2016/17 was experienced 

despite above average funding per pupil compared to the Welsh average. This begs 
the question is value for money being achieved? 

 
7.5 In recognising improvements in attainment in KS4 since the Estyn inspection, Figure 

8 charts the rate of improvement in attainment against the increase in budget for the 
period 2011/12 to 2015/16. 

 
Figure 8 – Improvement in KS4 Outcomes 2011/12 to 2015/16 

 

  

Powys Ceredigion 

Swansea 

NPT Bridgend 

V of G 

Merthyr Tydfil 
Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Pembrokeshire Carmarthenshir 

RCT 
Caerphilly 

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

5,000 5,500 6,000 6,500

A
ch

ie
vi

n
g 

K
S4

 L
e

ve
l 2

+ 
(%

) 

Gross Schools Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthen 

Swansea 

NPT 

Bridgend V of G 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

RCT 

0

5

10

15

20

25

-200 -100 0 100 200 300 400 500

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

in
 A

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t 

Change in Gross Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Page 50



 
 
7.6 Although it is accepted that Merthyr Tydfil‟s rate of improvement for the period 

2011/12 to 2015/16 began from a low base (refer to Figure 6), from Figure 8 it can 
be argued that Merthyr Tydfil has significantly outperformed all other Welsh 
Authorities in respect of improved pupil attainment (21.4% compared to the Welsh 
average of 9.2%). Similar VFM questions to paragraph 4.6 apply. 

 
7.7 In recognising the significant fall in attainment during 2016/17 Figure 9 charts the 

rate of improvement in attainment against the increase in budget for the period 
2011/12 to 2016/17. 

 
7.8 It is evident from Figure 9 that the disappointing results for 2016/17 have led to 

Merthyr Tydfil being the 3rd ranked Authority for improvement for the period with 
improved pupil attainment of 9.9% compared to the Welsh average of 3.5%. This 
position is despite Merthyr Tydfil being ranked 2nd in Wales for increase in funding for 
the period 2011/12 to 2016/17.  

 
 Figure 9 – Improvement in KS4 Outcomes 2011/12 to 2016/17  
 

  
 
 
7.9 It is recognised that outcomes across Wales declined during 2016/17 owing to a 

change in the curriculum.  To compare the individual impact across all Welsh 
Authorities Figure 10 illustrates the change from 2015/16 to 2016/17 for all Welsh 
authorities and the Welsh average for both attainment and budget. 

 
  
  

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthen 

Swansea 

NPT 

Bridgend 

V of G 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 
Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

RCT 

-6

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

-200 -100 0 100 200 300 400 500

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

in
 A

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t 
(%

) 

Change in Gross Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Page 51



Figure 10 – Decline in KS4 Outcomes from 2015/16 to 2016/17 
 
 

  
 
 
7.10 Figure 10 indicates that although all Welsh Local Authorities‟, bar one, experienced a 

decline in attainment in 2016/17, Merthyr Tydfil demonstrated the greatest decline of 
11.5% against the Welsh average decline of 5.7%. Although Merthyr Tydfil‟s funding 
reduced by £72 per pupil during 2016/17 the total funding per pupil of £5,723 was 
still greater than the Welsh average of £5,570.  

 

8.0 YOUTH SERVICE ATTAINMENT AND ENGAGEMENT 
 
8.1 Spend Per Person 
 
8.1.1 This relates to the total spend per youth population aged 11 to 25 in respect of £ per 

head. 
 
8.1.2 Figure 11 compares Merthyr Tydfil‟s total spend per youth population with the Welsh 

average for the period 2011/12 to 2016/17. It is evident with the exception of 2014/15 
Merthyr Tydfil‟s funding has exceeded the Welsh average. 

 
  
  

Gwynedd 

Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthen 
Swansea 

NPT 

Bridgend 

V of G 
RCT 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

Anglesey 

-12

-10

-8

-6

-4

-2

0

-100 -50 0 50 100 150 200
D

e
cl

in
e

 in
 A

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t 
(%

) 

Change in Gross Budgeted Expenditure per pupil (£) 

Page 52



Figure 11 – Total Spend per Youth Population (£/head) 
 

  
 
 
8.2 Youth Service Attainment 
 
8.2.1 Youth Service Attainment relates to the percentage of young people securing 

accredited outcomes within the youth service and relates to youth service members 
between the ages of 11 and 25.  

 
8.2.2 Figure 12 illustrates Merthyr Tydfil‟s youth service attainment for the period 2011/12 

to 2016/17 in comparison with the Welsh average. It is evident that Merthyr Tydfil‟s 
performance consistently exceeds the Welsh average. 

 
 Figure 12 – Young People Securing Accredited Outcomes 
 

  
 
 
8.2.3 Figure 13 illustrates comparisons between all Welsh Local Authorities for 2016/17 

against youth service attainment and funding. 
  
  

£60  £61  

£115  

£50  

£59  

£71  
£74  

£71  £71  

£61  

£56  £56  

£40

£50

£60

£70

£80

£90

£100

£110

£120

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

16% 16% 17% 

36% 

19% 
15% 

11% 11% 11% 12% 11% 10% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Page 53



Figure 13 – Accredited Outcomes (VFM Assessment) 
 

  
 
8.2.4 It is evident from Figure 13 that Merthyr Tydfil compares favourably against other 

Local Authorities and the Welsh average in respect of outcomes being ranked joint 
7th in Wales at 5% above the Welsh average. Merthyr Tydfil is also the 7th highest 
funder at £71 per person (£15 above the Welsh average). It should be noted that 
Figure 13 excludes Anglesey who did not submit data and that Bridgend is a 
significant outlier. Does the higher than average funding result in the higher than 
average outcomes? Would a reduction in funding have a negative impact on 
outcomes? 

 
8.3 Youth Service Engagement 
 
8.3.1 Youth Service Engagement is measured by the number of individual youth service 

members, aged between 11 and 25, as a percentage of the population. 
 
8.3.2 Figure 14 illustrates Merthyr Tydfil‟s youth service engagement for the period 

2011/12 to 2016/17 in comparison with the Welsh average. It is evident that Merthyr 
Tydfil‟s youth service engagement compares favourably with the Welsh average. 

 
  
  

Gwynedd Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 
Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthenshire 

Bridgend 

V of G 

RCT 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 
Swansea 

NPT 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Y
o

u
n

g 
P

e
o

p
le

 S
e

cu
ri

n
g 

A
cc

re
d

it
e

d
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s 

w
it

h
in

 Y
o

u
th

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 (

%
) 

Funding per person (£) 

Page 54



Figure 14 – Young People Engaging with Youth Service 
 

  
 
8.3.3 Figure 15 illustrates comparisons between all Welsh Local Authorities for 2016/17 

against youth service engagement and funding. 
 
 Figure 15 – Youth Service Engagement (VFM Assessment) 
 

  
 
8.3.4 It is evident from Figure 15 that Merthyr Tydfil compares favourably against other 

Local Authorities and the Welsh average in respect of outcomes being ranked joint 
7th in Wales at 7% above the Welsh average. It should be noted that Figure 15 
excludes Anglesey who did not submit data. Does the higher than average funding 
result in the higher than average outcomes? Would a reduction in funding have a 
negative impact on the number of young people engaging with the youth service? 

 

24% 

34% 

23% 

19% 

16% 

22% 

21% 21% 
20% 

18% 

17% 
16% 

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2011/122012/132013/142014/152015/162016/17
Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Gwynedd 

Conwy 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 

Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 
Carmarthenshire 

Swansea 

NPT 

Bridgend 

V of G 

RCT Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 
Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

Wales 

0

10

20

30

40

50

20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Y
o

u
n

g 
P

e
o

p
le

 E
n

ga
gi

n
g 

w
it

h
 t

h
e

 Y
o

u
th

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 (

%
) 

Funding per person (£) 

Page 55



 

9.0 EXCLUSIONS FROM SCHOOLS 

 
9.1 Figures 16 and 17 relate to percentage exclusions from secondary schools per 1,000 

pupils for the period 2011/12 to 2015/16 for 5 days or fewer and 6 days or more 
respectively. In both cases Merthyr Tydfil‟s exclusion rates are decreasing and are 
consistently below the Welsh average. 2016/17 and 2017/18 data are unavailable at 
this time.  

 
 Figure 16 – Exclusions 5 days or fewer (per 1,000 pupils) 
 

  
  
 Figure 17 – Exclusions 6 days or more (per 1,000 pupils) 
 

  
 

Has Merthyr Tydfil‟s improving exclusion position made any impact in improved 
attainment at both KS2 and KS4? 

 
  

16.3% 

21.5% 
20.3% 

22.9% 

17.5% 

29.9% 

27.9% 
26.7% 

28.0% 

30.9% 

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

2.2% 
2.0% 

1.0% 

1.9% 

0.6% 

2.3% 
2.1% 

1.6% 

1.7% 
1.4% 

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Page 56



10.0 ABSENTEEISM IN SCHOOLS  

 
10.1 All Absences 
 
10.1.1 Figures 18 and 19 relate to percentage absenteeism in respect of all absences for 

primary and secondary schools respectively.  
 

 Figure 18 – All Absences Primary Schools 
 

  
 

Although consistently decreasing year on year for the period 2011/12 to 2014/15, 
Merthyr Tydfil‟s absenteeism rate for all absences has remained static for the period 
2014/15 to 2016/17 whilst consistently exceeding the Welsh average for primary 
schools for the period 2011/12 to 2016/17. 2017/18 data is unavailable at this time. 

 
 Figure 19 – All Absences Secondary Schools 

 

   
 

For secondary schools the absenteeism rate for all absences has consistently 
exceeded the Welsh average from 2013/14. In addition the gap between Merthyr 
Tydfil and the Welsh average has increased for 2016/17 and 2017/18 as Merthyr 
Tydfil‟s absenteeism rate has increased. Are there any specific reasons? 

 
  

7.1% 

6.7% 

6.1% 

5.7% 5.8% 5.7% 
6.2% 6.3% 

5.2% 5.1% 5.1% 5.1% 

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

7.6% 

6.7% 

7.1% 
6.9% 

6.6% 

7.0% 

7.6% 7.8% 

7.4% 

6.4% 
6.2% 

5.8% 5.9% 

6.2% 

5%

6%

7%

8%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Page 57



10.2 Unauthorised Absences 
 
10.2.1 Figures 20 and 21 relate to percentage absenteeism in respect of unauthorised 

absences for primary and secondary schools respectively. 
 
 Figure 20 – Unauthorised Absences Primary Schools 
 

  
 

Figure 21 – Unauthorised Absences Secondary Schools 
 

 
 
Merthyr Tydfil‟s absenteeism rate in respect of unauthorised absences for both 
primary and secondary schools is now above the Welsh average after being 
consistently below the Welsh average for a number of years. Is there a direct 
correlation between absenteeism and attainment? 
 
 

11.0 GROSS SCHOOLS BUDGETED EXPENDITURE PER PUPIL 
 
11.1 Figure 22 compares Merthyr Tydfil‟s gross schools budgeted expenditure per pupil 

with the Welsh average for the period 2011/12 to 2017/18. 
 
 

0.2% 0.2% 

0.6% 

1.1% 
1.2% 

1.5% 

0.7% 

0.9% 
1.0% 

1.0% 
1.1% 

1.1% 

0.0%

0.4%

0.8%

1.2%

1.6%

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

1.0% 1.0% 
1.1% 1.2% 

1.6% 
1.8% 

3.0% 

1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 

1.3% 0.8% 

1.6% 

0%

1%

2%

3%

Merthyr Tydfil Wales Average

Page 58



 
 
 Figure 22 – Budgeted Expenditure per pupil 
 

  
 

Since 2013/14 Merthyr Tydfil‟s budgeted expenditure per pupil is in excess of the 
Welsh average. Are there any specific reasons for this increase in funding compared 
to the Welsh average? Is there a direct correlation between funding and attainment? 

 

12.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
12.1 For the period 2011/12 to 2015/16 Merthyr Tydfil has experienced the greatest rate 

of improvement in attainment for both KS2 CSI and KS4 L2+ in comparison with all 
other Welsh Local Authorities whilst also experiencing the greatest increase in gross 
schools budgeted expenditure per pupil. 

 
12.2 For 2013/14 to 2017/18 Merthyr Tydfil‟s gross schools budgeted expenditure per 

pupil exceeds the Welsh average for all Local Authorities.   
 
12.3 Although for 2016/17 changes in the curriculum resulted in a decline in attainment at 

KS4 L2+ for 21 out of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities, Merthyr Tydfil‟s decline was 
significantly the greatest. 

 
12.4 Encouragingly the KS2 CSI attainment rate for 2016/17 continued to show 

improvement. 
 
12.5 In respect of the youth service, the spend per person, young people securing 

accredited outcomes within the youth service and young people engaging with the 
youth service all measured above the Welsh average for 2016/17. 

  
12.6 For 2016/17 Merthyr Tydfil‟s exclusions from school for both 5 days or fewer and 6 

days or more per 1,000 pupils are lower than the Welsh average exclusions for all 
Local Authorities. 

 

£5,363  

£5,425  

£5,605  

£5,722  

£5,795  

£5,723  

£5,811  

£5,451  

£5,520  £5,594  £5,607  

£5,526  
£5,570  

£5,628  

£5,300

£5,400

£5,500

£5,600

£5,700

£5,800

£5,900

Merthyr Tydfil (£) Wales Average (£)

Page 59



12.5 Merthyr Tydfil‟s absenteeism figures for all absences for both primary and secondary 
schools exceed the Welsh average figures for all Local Authorities. 

 
12.6 Merthyr Tydfil‟s absenteeism figures for unauthorised absences for both primary and 

secondary schools exceed the Welsh average figures for all Local Authorities. 
 

13.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
13.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

– children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

 
  
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 60



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

ESTYN Self Evaluation Reporting (SER) 
Framework (Inspection Area 2)/ Fframwaith Adrodd 
Hunanwerthuso ESTYN (SER) (Ardal Arolygu 2) 
 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The local authority continues to have a planned work programme for the Self- 
 Evaluation Report (SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be 
 used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on 
 standards and performance. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide the current judgement for the SER inspection 
 areas   

 2.1 Support for school improvement 

 2.2 Support for vulnerable learners 

 2.3 Other education support services 
 

1.3 The judgement for Inspection Area 2 is ‘Adequate and needs improvement’ because 
‘strengths outweigh weaknesses but important aspects require improvement’. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 This report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Date Written 1st October 2018 

Report Author Joe Colsey 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 15th October 2018 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change 
and improvement.  The steps in the process are: 

 Monitoring and evaluating improvement 

 Planning for improvement 

 Undertaking improvement work 
 

3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for Local Government Education 
Services (LGES) has been reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and 
actions will lead to improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation 
are three questions:  

 How well are we doing?  

 How do we know?  

 How can we improve things further?  
 
3.3 ESTYN reviewed their framework for the inspection of local authorities which was 

piloted during last academic year.  The local authority continues to have a planned 
work programme in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be used to 
highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards 
and performance.  The information collected will feed into the local authority’s 
delivery plans for improving the quality of provision.  Reports on all the areas of the 
SER will be presented to the LGES Scrutiny over the coming months. 

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In 2017-2018, the judgements for Inspection Area 2 were: 

 

 Inspection area 2.1: Good with strong features, although minor aspects required 
improvement. 

 Inspection area 2.2: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 
outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement. 

 Inspection area 2.3: Adequate and needs improvement with strengths 
outweighing weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 

 The judgement for 2.1 is ‘Adequate and needs improvement’ because ‘strengths 
outweigh weaknesses but important aspects require improvement’. 

 The judgement for 2.2 is ‘Adequate and needs improvement’ because ‘strengths 
outweigh weaknesses but important aspects require improvement’. 

 The judgement for 2.3 is ‘Adequate and needs improvement’ because ‘strengths 
outweigh weaknesses but important aspects require improvement’. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Our ambition is for the outcomes of all learners in Merthyr Tydfil to be consistently 

higher than the Welsh Average.  We strive to ensure the children and young people 
of Merthyr Tydfil acquire the skills necessary to become ambitious and capable 
learners who are healthy confident individuals.  

 

Page 62



7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Within the evaluation reports are areas for development - see Appendix 1, 2 and 3.  

Many of these will form actions for officers within their team development plans.  The 
key areas for improvement from these reports are:- 

 improving leadership at all levels including governance; 

 promoting and facilitating increased sharing of best practice; 

 ensuring the Central South Consortium (CSC) delivers a strong school 
improvement service that improves outcomes for learners across Merthyr Tydfil; 

 ensuring the Challenge Advisers and Strategic Advisers work in partnership with 
schools and the local authority to improve the outcomes for learners across 
Merthyr Tydfil; 

 ensuring the CSC provides good value for money; 

 developing increased accountability of schools for attendance; 

 delivering training to ensure a consistent and challenging approach to matters of 
non-attendance; 

 increasing awareness of the correlation between attainment and attendance; 

 re-establishing termly attendance meetings with schools in order to focus on 
areas for improvement; 

 developing a marketing campaign to raise awareness of the importance of 
attendance and parental engagement; 

 developing increased accountability of schools for behaviour; 

 improving support for pupils with Additional Learning Needs including SEBD; 

 improving levels of wellbeing for all pupils; mental, emotional and physical; 

 reducing exclusions for the shorter period of five days or less; and 

 improving the outcomes for attainment for Children Looked After. 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1  The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

 children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

 
SUE WALKER, CHIEF EDUCATION 
OFFICER 

LISA MYTTON, PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR 
EDUCATION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Inspection Area 2.1 
 

Inspection Area 2.2 
 

Inspection Area 2.3 
 

1st October 2018 
 

1st October 2018 
 

1st October 2018 

 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 

Page 63



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Appendix 1

INSPECTION AREA 2: QUALITY OF EDUCATION SERVICES

Judgement:  Adequate and needs improvement

2.1 SUPPORT FOR SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT

CURRENT POSITION
The current position for support for school improvement is adequate and needs improvement. The 
strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement. School improvement is no 
longer good because the support from the strategic team has not improved outcomes in all schools, this 
combined with support for school leadership and governance has not resulted in all schools being 
categorised as green or yellow and their capacity to improve as ‘A’ or ‘B’.

In 2017-2018, there has been an increase of three schools (10%) being categorised as having an ‘a’ level for 
the capacity to improve. Two schools (7%) have improved their capacity to improve from a ‘c’ to a ‘b’. For 
the second consecutive year, no schools have been categorised as having a ‘d’ capacity to improve. 
However, in 2018-2019 this is expected to change which is impacting on overall judgement

 In 2017-2018 there has been an increase of three schools (10%) categorised as requiring a green level of 
support. There has been a reduction of four schools requiring a yellow level of support, three of these have 
improved to a green level of support and one has required an amber level of support. There were five 
schools requiring an amber level of support. For the second consecutive year no schools have required a 
red level of support. However, in 2018-2019 this is expected to change.

School leadership remains good in over half (54%) and excellent (35%) in over a third of schools across the 
borough. This continues to be identified through a clear and purposeful vision; high expectations of all 
pupils and staff; rigorous self-evaluation and strong improvement planning; analysis of a range of 
performance data; innovative and high quality collaboration with other schools and an effective and 
challenging governing body. 

GOOD PRACTICE
 For the fourth consecutive year, the Local Authority in partnership with the Central South Consortium 

has continued to provide effective monitoring, challenge, support and intervention (MCSI) for all 
schools across the borough, which is proportionate to their level of need. All schools that have been 
categorised as requiring an amber level of support have participated in a school improvement forum 
each term, whereby school leaders have been challenged on pupil outcomes and progress against 
priorities in their school development plan. 

 Attainment and progress data continues to be used effectively as the key driver to challenge and 
categorise schools.  A wide range of further information from local authority service areas and the 
Central South Consortium is used successfully to determine the capacity for improvement and provide 
appropriately differentiated support for individual schools dependent upon their area of need.

 School level and pupil level targets continue to be challenged in each school as part of the national 
categorisation process and progress towards these targets are reviewed termly by all Challenge 
Advisers.

 Termly review meetings continue to be held with Challenge Advisers and Local Authority officers to 
discuss various issues for each school in relation to school improvement, performance data, health and 
safety, buildings and finance issues; providing the local authority with opportunity to assess the 
capability of a school’s leadership team in relation to driving through agreed future improvements 
although there is a need to ensure all officers are clear about follow-up actions from these meetings in 
order to drive improvements

Page 65



Appendix 1

 The categorisation process continues to identify accurately schools at risk, schools causing concern 
and good practice for sharing.  These arrangements continue to be understood by school leaders, 
Central South Consortium and Local Authority leaders and managers.  As a result, all schools are 
categorised accurately and supported proportionately. 

 All Challenge Adviser reports continue to follow a consistent format and indicate clearly the areas for 
further improvement and future actions for each school.  Senior LA officers continue to monitor 
closely the work of Challenge Advisers and the quality of their reports, ensuring consistency and 
challenge in all schools across the authority.  The monitoring arrangements remain effective in 
supporting all primary and secondary schools in their understanding of what they need to do in order 
to improve, their focus on raising standards along with agreed time-scales.

 Schools are encouraged to share best practice through informal sessions via the primary and 
secondary Headteacher forums. Trelewis Primary School hosted a sharing best practice event with a 
focus on improving foundation phase pedagogy, which was attended by 40 primary phase colleagues 
from across the borough.

 Schools across the borough are being supported with curriculum reform via the brokered support from 
the Central South Consortium. 25 out of 28 schools (89%) have completed the non-statutory Readiness 
Tool which allows schools to self-audit in five core areas in preparation for the new curriculum. 

 Self-evaluation and improvement planning in all schools continues to be linked explicitly to the 
Challenge Framework via the Central South Consortium.  

 The local authority’s Partnership Agreement has been agreed by all stakeholders, it is effective in 
supporting, monitoring and challenging all schools.

 The Local Authority continues to make effective use of statutory powers to challenge the leadership 
and management in those schools whose performance is causing concern.  Half-termly Risk 
Management Conferences are undertaken with the Head of Legal Services, Human Resources, Senior 
Challenge Adviser, the Education Portfolio Lead and Chief Education Officer. At these meetings, 
schools with identified risks are discussed and further support is planned and reviewed; the 
attendance at these half-termly meetings has been inconsistent and thus the challenge has not always 
been provided in a timely manner.  

 Timely use of informal warning notices continues to be used across the authority. Two informal 
warning notices were issued during 2017-2018, one was issued in a secondary school and lifted within 
the same term, whilst the second was issued in a primary school and remains in place. To date in 2018-
19 there has been two informal warning notices issued to secondary schools across the borough.

 Support plans have been issued to all schools categorised as requiring an amber level of support; two 
in the secondary sector and three in the primary sector. One school has been removed from an amber 
category of support; the four schools will continue to be categorised as requiring an amber level of 
support and will continue to participate in termly school improvement forums.  . 

 The Local Authority continues to use its statutory powers effectively to challenge underperformance.  
Four primary schools were inspected by Estyn during 2017-2018, none of whom were placed in an 
Estyn follow-up category and two were asked to complete an Estyn best practice case study, these 
have been shared with scrutiny members

 All four local authority briefings that were provided to Estyn as part of the inspection process reflected 
the judgements of each of the inspection team.

 Many governing bodies continue to improve their skills in holding school leaders to account for their 
performance through an increased understanding of a range of performance data.  In these schools, 
governors are continuing to use data well to ensure more rigorous performance management 
arrangements for headteachers. However this remains inconsistent across all schools

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 Improving leadership at all levels including governance.

Page 66



Appendix 1

 Promoting and facilitating increased sharing of best practice.
 Ensuring the Central South Consortium delivers a strong school improvement service that improves 

outcomes for learners across Merthyr Tydfil.
 Ensure the Challenge Advisers and Strategic Advisers work in partnership with schools and the local 

authority to improve the outcomes for learners across Merthyr Tydfil.
 Ensure the Central South Consortium provides good value for money.

Secure excellent leadership across all schools through:
 Continuing to promote an increased involvement and autonomy of school leaders in key areas of 

school-to-school working along with leading on school improvement. 
 Make certain all schools plan for leadership development, particularly the middle leadership 

development programme provided by the Central South Consortium in order to strengthen school 
leadership across all schools.

Ensure governance in all schools is good or better through:
 Provide support and guidance for Governing Bodies to ensure accurate self-evaluation is undertaken. 
 Encourage all governing bodies to work with their cluster schools to form a Governor Improvement 

Group (GIG). 
 Facilitate the brokering of consultant governors for Governing Bodies that have been identified as 

requiring additional bespoke support. 
 Develop governor recruitment opportunities to ensure there are no vacancies on governing bodies and 

the skills of governors match needs identified through the skills audit.
 Ensure Challenge Advisers continue to attend one Governing Body meeting for each school per year to 

review the process of the Governing Body audit and to support with the self-evaluation process.

EVIDENCE
 Estyn monitoring inspection December 2015
 Self-evaluation report 2017-2018
 Standards 2018
 Categorisation outcomes 2017-2018

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
 

INSPECTION AREA 2.2: SUPPORT FOR VULNERABLE LEARNERS 

 

CURRENT JUDGEMENT:   
The current provision for the support for vulnerable learners is adequate and needs 

improvement because although there are strengths within the support provided for 

vulnerable learners which outweigh the weaknesses, there remain important aspects that 

require further improvement.  For example, strategies to ensure the LA tracks the 

attainment of vulnerable pupils appropriately and provision for pupils with additional needs 

is a priority for development.  

CURRENT POSITION: 

 A range of universal services work well together across the local authority to provide 
seamless, targeted and timely support for schools, pupils and parents for example, a 
School’s Counselling service is provided with The Exchange to support pupils and 
families who are considered to be vulnerable. A change in service provider in April 2018 
has enabled a joint service with Families First. Service users are now able to access 
Schools’ or Community Counselling via a single referral process. This is triaged to ensure 
that the most appropriate service is offered to meet their needs. Furthermore, the 
model used is proactive and aims to build emotional resilience. Joint collaboration has 
successfully continued with the Health Services and Rhondda Cynon Taff which has 
further supported targeted enhanced speech and language therapy. Unfortunately a 
delay in finalising the service level agreement has resulted in staffing issues. Speech and 
Language Therapists are currently being recruited to fill vacant posts. It is envisaged that 
this issue will soon be resolved. 

 The authority has a programme for the evaluation of all ALN services provided for, or 

commissioned by, the authority.  This has led to continued improvements in the services 

including increasing capacity to meet the needs of pupils with Hearing Impairment and 

increased commissioning of services through another local authority in order to meet 

needs.  However capacity issues in another LA have resulted in a change of provider for 

Mobility services, with a risk of a requirement for a change of a provider for Visual 

Impairment services from January 2019. LA learning resource base classes have been 

reviewed and adjustments made to provisions from September 2018. This has included 

revising entry and exit criteria for all provisions. The changes are currently being 

embedded to provide LA learning resource base classes which are fit for purpose.  

 Targeted support for vulnerable learners particularly those identified as having English 

as an additional language and Gypsy Travellers has resulted in improved levels of 

engagement, behaviour and achievement.  As a result attendance has improved for 

these groups of learners and the length of engagement in secondary education has 

continued.  

 The Youth Support Services continue to be effective in ensuring children and young 

people’s wellbeing remains a priority in the work that is undertaken.  All pupils including 

vulnerable learners continue to have access to enrichment type activities through the 

forms of music, sporting events, off site visits and art workshops, these aim to further 

improve self-confidence and self-esteem.  There continues to be worthwhile provision of 

Page 69



Appendix 2 
 

services around safeguarding, sports, the arts and healthy eating ensuring learners 

access a broad and balanced curriculum. 

 The local authority continues to use a range of data to identify the needs and progress of 

vulnerable learners over time, including children looked after.  The Local Authority 

provides purposeful support and challenge for schools through the work of the 

Challenge Advisers who draw on a range of data to address underperformance of groups 

of vulnerable learners. Early identification, evaluation and intervention of pupils with 

mild to moderate additional learning needs continues to be undertaken via detailed 

graduated responses within schools.  The further development of the Capita One system 

and the recent development of a Capita One team will ensure that this work is more 

effective and efficient.

 

 Very good pupil-focused support is provided to schools and families for the early 

identification, evaluation and intervention for vulnerable learners.  Support for families 

has also been provided through the family liaison officers, MIA, Intensive Support for 

Families and WEFO funded projects since 2011.  All policies and protocols continue to be 

reviewed on an annual basis ensuring that provision meets the needs of schools and 

various groups of vulnerable learners. A review of Enhanced Support provision is 

currently being undertaken across the LA, in collaboration with schools, with a view to 

identifying a streamlined and more cost effective means of allocating support. 

 The local authority continues to promote positive attitudes towards race equality and 

strategies to combat racism; in schools, diversity is celebrated and healthy debate is 

encouraged.  As a result of key activities undertaken, reported incidents of bullying in 

relation to racism remains low.  The key activities that are in place to improve wellbeing 

in general and bullying include activities at a whole school level which includes the PSE 

curriculum; Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL), Circle Time, Philosophy 4 

Children along with Show Racism the Red Card events.  At an individual targeted level 

activities include Emotional Literacy Support Assistants delivering counselling, 

Restorative Justice, Mindfulness and Student Assistant Programme.  At a specialist level 

activities include support from the Behaviour Team, Educational Psychologists, Children 

Looked After support, Play therapy, along with the use of Key Workers and/or Learning 

Coaches.  

 The local authority Outreach Service has delivered Positive Behaviour Support Training 

to all schools in Merthyr, along with Merthyr College and the EOTAS provision.   The 

outreach service with an outside provider (Helen Sanderson Associates (HSA)) has 

delivered Person Centred Practice training to  26 out of 29 schools within the authority, 

in order to ensure a consistent approach to Person Centred Planning (PCP) across the 

authority; as a result of the training, all Annual Reviews are conducted using a PCP 

approach ensuring reviews are effective and transitional planning is timely and 

supported.  This approach  has also  been rolled out to Early Years settings and Merthyr 

College, in order to ensure a consistent approach across the LA. All Early Years’ settings 

have been offered PCP training and nearly all settings (approx. 90%) attended. One Page 

Page 70



 
Profiles are being piloted on entry to settings, with a view to have One Page Profiles 

included with all transition documents by Summer 2019. 

 Twenty primary schools are now part of the local authority EWS SLA, as well the Ty 

Dysgu Homfray and Ty Dysgu Dowlais. Two of these schools have been recognised by 

Estyn as demonstrating good practice in improving pupil’s attendance.  Attendance case 

conferences were held with school leaders from nine primary schools to discuss 

attendance strategies, identify barriers for improvement and confirm next steps to 

secure further attendance improvement.  

 Attendance has decreased slightly in 2017/18. An action plan has been produced 

identifying actions to improve performance. This includes a corporate approach to an 

Attendance Awareness Raising Campaign.  The provision of monthly authority and 

school level data on attendance, which has facilitated in improved targeting of resources 

will continue e.g. reduction of persistent absentees; monthly communication with 

school leaders to disseminate successful strategies for further improvement along with a 

focus on attendance at all challenge adviser visits to schools.  Strategies also include 

increased involvement of the Governor with responsibility for attendance and the 

School Council in attendance matters; schools routinely challenging and requesting 

medical evidence for sickness absences; earlier engagement with the FPN process; 

continued opportunities for rewarding pupils with good attendance .However, despite 

the engagement of all schools in the strategies to improve attendance, as a local 

authority we are still ranked 22 out of 22 in Wales for primary and secondary 

attendance. 

 

The local authority has continued to work closely with all schools, but in particular the 

secondary sector, to reduce the number and avoid lengthy or permanent exclusions. 

Excluded pupils are swiftly provided with alternative high quality education through robust 

processes for managed moves, provision in a specialist setting or special tuition. Managed 

moves have been fully embraced by three of the four secondary schools and a number of 

successful transfers between the schools have ensured pupils are achieving success in their 

new school.  In conjunction with this, at key stage 4 alternative curriculum routes continue 

to be explored for pupils displaying significant disaffection or very challenging behaviour.   

 Under the new operation of a PRU the EOTAS Management Board has been 

reconfigured and will operate with representatives from the secondary sector, Social 

Services, the Police, the Youth Offending Team, local authority officers, staff from 

the provision and a parent representative.  It is the role of the  Management Board 

to ensure that a range of stakeholders contribute towards shaping the education and 

experiences of the learners within the provision. However, due to the nature of the 

provision, often learners are not able to access the full academic curriculum and is a 

provision that will be further reviewed in the coming term. 

 

 The EOTAS setting, continues to be well supported by the youth offending team who 
form part of the management board and contribute to key decisions in relation to 
the setting.  A more appropriate curriculum has been developed with external 
providers contributing to the timetable on a regular basis; bespoke timetables are 

Page 71



 
implemented for pupils where necessary in order to reflect their individual strengths 
and to increase motivation. There has been an increase in the total number of exclusions 
issued from 10 in 2016/17 to 18 in 2017/18. 

 There has been an increase in the total number of days lost from 24 in 2016/17 to 31.5 in 
2017/18.  

 The alternative provision in Pen Y Dre High School funded by the LA has resulted in a 

reduction of exclusions and has also resulted in no Year 7 pupil requiring education 

provision in the EOTAS setting.  

 Effective and timely arrangements continue to be in place for transition back into school 

for pupils who have been excluded, Children Looked After, refugee children and those 

who were previously electively home educated. The local authority continues to hold 

weekly Clearing Panels attended by a range of professional representatives, which 

provide a robust system for addressing complex cases, including moves into the local 

authority and emergency cases/changes in circumstances. These regular panel meetings 

ensure that individual cases are dealt with promptly, with input and advice from a range 

of relevant education professionals. However, a minority of vulnerable pupils that 

moved into MTCBC from another authority did not have timely plans in place to 

accommodate their transition into school and have therefore needed Special Tuition. 

 There continues to be agreed processes and procedures in place for those pupils who 

are electively home educated. The Advisory Teacher with this area of responsibility 

maintains a register of pupils electively educated at home in order to monitor and track 

pupil progress, local authority officers liaise regularly to ensure accurate information is 

retained and that appropriate support is provided for these pupils. 

 The local authority continues to conduct statutory assessments in accordance with the 

SEN Code of Practice and in an effective and timely manner. All statutory assessments 

that have been undertaken since 2014 have been completed within statutory 

timescales, unless an exception has been granted due to ongoing resolutions. All pupils 

with a Statement of SEN are provided with additional provision to which they are 

entitled. Provision is specific in statements and the annual review process is robust. All 

Young People are invited to contribute towards their Statutory Assessment and Annual 

Reviews, in line with person centred practice.  

 Many schools have a range of pastoral support and care, specialist provision for pupils 

with complex SEBD needs in schools within the local authority has recently been 

introduced   in order to avoid delays in support and costly out of county placements.  

 Work is being undertaken to ensure information is shared with mainstream settings 

from the health services prior to pupils with complex needs starting school. However, or 

a number of pupils with complex additional learning needs this information is not timely.  

 The local authority continues to work closely with outside education providers, 

partnership services and support services including Children’s Social Services and 

Children Looked After Education Support services, to ensure children are well placed and 

closely monitored and reviewed.  

 Advice for individual parents and carers with children with additional learning needs 
continues to be good, they are supported well through the process and continue to work 
in partnership with schools. Very good pupil-focused support is provided to schools and 
families for the early identification, evaluation and intervention of pupils with additional 

Page 72



 
learning needs.  Support for families has also been provided through the family liaison 
officers, MIA and WEFO funded projects since 2011. All policies and protocols are 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that provision meets the needs of schools and 
pupils with additional learning needs. 

 Parent Partnership continues to be embedded across all ALN and Inclusion Teams. SEN 
Tribunals continue to remain low. The local authority continues to work very closely with 
SNAP Cymru to support parents and provide high quality impartial information, advice 
and guidance to allow them to make informed decisions and resolve disputes without 
recourse to complaint or tribunal.  

 The local authority has reviewed the current practice and arrangements for parent 
partnership work, mediation and conflict resolution across the five authorities as a result 
of the review of current practice, key actions have been implemented including the 
development of a toolkit on Dispute Resolution for schools and information for parents. 
Training in Dispute Resolution is currently being rolled out across the LA.  

 Support and training has been provided in relation to positive behaviour management 
for all staff deployed within learning resource bases across the authority, which has seen 
a reduction in the number of requests for support from the behaviour support team. 
Accredited Manual Handling training continues to be delivered by local authority officers 
to school staff across the authority, ensuring the safety of pupils and staff where pupils 
have limited mobility and/or personal care needs. Termly ALNCO Forums continue to be 
held to provide support and training to all colleagues appointed to the role; in addition, 
all newly appointed ALNCOs participated in the induction training programme ensuring a 
consistent approach to the role across the authority.  

 As a result of an identified area of need, the local authority continues to invest in 
specialist accredited Braille training for staff in order to meet the identified needs of 
pupils with complex visual impairment.  

 Safeguarding arrangements and governance continue to be robust and are in 
compliance with WG guidance. LA colleagues are currently reviewing the new All Wales 
Child Protection Procedures. The local authority continues to effectively meet 
safeguarding regulations and ensures that all school staff remain in compliance with 
training requirements. All school governing bodies have adopted the Cwm Taf exemplar 
Child Safeguarding Policy for 2017/18, and have engaged in the Safeguarding self-
evaluation process ensuring a consistence of approach.  

 Radicalisation training has been delivered to local authority and staff employed in 

schools; all schools have engaged with this training which has ensured current and up to 

date information is shared with all school staff and school leaders are aware of the 

process to follow if concerns are raised.   

 The Child Safeguarding Policy and self-evaluation audit tool have been updated in light 

of the Prevent Duty and the guidance for domestic violence. This audit continues to be 

undertaken on an annual basis and enables schools to monitor and evaluate their own 

safeguarding arrangements. All schools continue to have Designated Senior Persons 

(DSP) with responsibility for safeguarding.  

 Advice and guidance is provided on the content of risk assessments, including the risk 

assessments that are linked to Educational Visits (Evolve). The LA has a Safeguarding 

Officer who is the Local Authority’s Designated Officer for Safeguarding and the 

Inclusion Manager is the Education lead officer, both officers provide consistent advice 

and support to schools. 

Page 73



 

 The Inclusion team have produced guidance for schools on the process to follow when 

an allegation is made against a member of staff; additional information has been 

produced to enable schools to support staff in the aftermath of such an allegation, 

ensuring staff wellbeing is paramount. This has been reviewed in light of recent changes.  

 The local authority has a clear Safer Recruitment process and monitors compliance 

ensuring all staff employed are suitably qualified and the necessary safety checks are 

undertaken. 

 The education department continues to be represented on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding 

Board and the various associated sub groups ensuring up to date awareness of new 

policies and protocols. The Safeguarding Forum for schools continues to meet to share 

current safeguarding policies and processes and to disseminate best practice. Up to date 

information, polices and protocols in respect of Safeguarding are regularly shared with 

all schools. Information and resources in relation to Anti-bullying and safeguarding 

weeks are shared with schools annually to ensure continued participation and that 

learners are able to make informed choices in relation to related issues. 

 The Corporate Safeguarding Group continues to meet to ensure safeguarding and the 

promotion of the welfare of children and adults are incorporated into the work plan of 

all departments within the authority. The various work plans are regularly monitored 

and reviewed to provide local authority officers and various members of the Council 

with up to date information which shared with a number of stakeholders. 

 

The strategies for further improvement will focus on: 

 developing increased accountability of schools for attendance; 

 delivering training to ensure a consistent and challenging approach to matters of 
non-attendance; 

 increasing engagement with the prosecution process; 

 increasing awareness of the correlation between attainment and attendance;  

 re-instating termly Truancy Patrols in conjunction with the Police; 

 re-establishing termly Attendance meetings with schools in order to focus on areas 
for improvement; 

 delivering “Wellbeing” groups in schools for those identified with a need; 

 ensuring that attendance is a priority across the council;  

 extending the Early Identification Toolkit (EIT) into primary schools in order to 
identify vulnerability from an earlier age;  

 increasing levels of parental engagement in pupil learning; 

 developing a marketing campaign to raise awareness of the importance of 
attendance and parental engagement;  

 ensuring that prevention and early intervention strategies for all pupils are well 
established ; and 

 targeting support by using data effectively. 

 developing increased accountability of schools for behaviour; 

 building capacity in schools to for effective classroom management;  

 improving support for pupils with ALN including SEBD;  

 increasing levels of parental engagement in pupil learning; 

 ensuring that prevention and early intervention strategies for all pupils are well 
established ; and 

Page 74



 

 targeting support by using data effectively. 
 

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 Undertake a review of the learning and teaching within the EOTAS setting. Embed 

PRU 

 Review the deployment of the current Local Resource Bases. Support the set-up of 

and embed revised Local Resource Base provision 

 Embed provision for complex SEBD pupils within the local authority. 

 Develop Greenfield Outreach Support to be more robust and far-reaching.  

 Ensure timely sharing of information for pupils with complex additional learning 

needs between mainstream settings and health services. 

 Ensure timely sharing of information and educational arrangements are in place for 

pupils moving from another authority. 

 Undertake a review of Enhanced Support provision across the LA 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

INSPECTION AREA 2.3:  OTHER EDUCATION SUPPORT SERVICES

CURRENT POSITION
The promotion of, and provision for, social inclusion and wellbeing by the local authority 
and by schools is adequate and needs improvement. The strengths outweigh 
weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement.
• There is effective promotion of social inclusion and wellbeing of all children and 
young people, including healthy lifestyle choices, behaviour, anti-bullying, preventing 
exclusion and education other than at school (EOTAS) however this does not yet result in 
good outcomes 
• There is effective promotion of attendance and education, employment and training 
for young people however attendance figures a still too low and exclusions rates are too 
high
• Youth support services and personal support is good
• Safeguarding arrangements are good

The promotion of social inclusion and wellbeing is not yet good because school 
attendance rates for the local authority, although improving over time, are not above 
national benchmarks.

GOOD PRACTICE
Universal and targeted services 
 There is good provision of services around, PSE, sport, the arts and healthy lifestyles.
 Engagement with the Eco Schools Awards remains high. 20 out of 28 schools have 

Green flag status. These awards nurture positive attitudes to the environment, and 
develop and active global citizenship. 

 All pupils, including vulnerable groups of pupils, have access to enrichment type 
activities e.g. Music, sporting events, off site visits and Art Workshops. This improves 
self-confidence and self-esteem.  

 Targeted support for groups of learners has resulted in improved levels of 
engagement, behaviour and achievement, specifically among pupils for whom 
English is in additional language and for Gypsy Travellers. As a result, attendance for 
Gypsy Travellers has improved and engagement in education has continued into 
secondary school for longer. 

 As a result of key activities in school, reported incidents of bullying for racism remain 
low. 

 Working with colleagues in the LA and Barnados to identify and highlight the issues 
faced by young carers in schools has led to the identification of over 100 Young 
Carers with the securing of support and Champions for this cohort. As a result pupils 
and their families are able to access additional support.

Promote attendance
 The data provides a detailed understanding of attendance trends and is analysed by 

variables including gender, school year and groups of leaners (eFSM, CLA, gypsy 

Page 77



Appendix 3

traveller etc).  The monthly analysis provided has facilitated in improved targeting of 
resources e.g. reduction of persistent absentees. 

 Attendance Case conferences have been held with nine primary schools to identify 
barriers to improvement and confirm next steps. As a result four of these schools 
have seen an improvement in their attendance.

 Pen Y Dre High School was asked to submit a “Best Practice Case Study” to Estyn to 
share their work around wellbeing and healthy relationships. Estyn commented that 
the school’s strategies to improve attendance were effective and that parents and 
pupils felt highly valued and include in the life of the school. 

 Youth support services have been highly effective in reducing the NEETS population.  
The number of NEETs has reduced to 1.3% and 0 unknowns in 17/18. Effective 
features include good partnership working with schools and careers Wales, Early 
Intervention Toolkit which starts in year 7 and a comprehensive tracking systems 
which used well to target support.

 Attendance rates within flying start are high and in the top quartile compared to the 
rest of Wales

 Some intervention programmes are now benchmarking impact on attendance 
utilising Capita 1  system with 46% improving their attendance. Despite key 
activities, attendance has not improved. The key activities are monthly borough and 
school level data on attendance shared with all schools including governors and the 
implementation of a wide range of effective strategies in nearly all schools 

Promotion of positive behaviour and prevent exclusions
 Effective guidance, support and training for behaviour management in schools is 

provided through a comprehensive training programme on Positive Behaviour 
Support (PBS) led by the outreach service. The implementation of Person Centred 
Practices and PBS has resulted in improved behaviour and a fall in exclusions and the 
number of days lost due to an exclusion. e.g. Cyfarthfa High School – case studies 
and inspection of Greenfield special school 

 The authority has remodelled the behaviour support team to work in partnership 
with the outreach service from Greenfield Special School and with the Educational 
Psychology service so that advice to schools is supportive and timely. As a result 
pupils accessing support are making rapid progress – case studies

 As a result of key activities, permanent exclusions are rare and time lost to fixed 
term exclusions has reduced significantly in the secondary and primary sector. The 
key activities are: monthly borough and school level data on exclusions is shared 
with all schools including governors, as well as Challenge Advisers and appropriate 
LA staff. 

 Excluded pupils are provided swiftly with alternative high quality education through 
robust processes for managed moves, provision in a specialist setting and special 
tuition. 

 The alternative provision in Pen Y Dre has reduced exclusions by more than half.
 In the EOTAS setting, the number of days lost due to an exclusion and the number of 

exclusions have reduced. The provision is supported well by the youth offending 
team who sit on the management board.

Page 78



Appendix 3

Youth Support Services
 Engagement with youth services and accreditation rates remain above Welsh 

averages  
 The regular review of evaluation of youth services ensures there is a good range of 

opportunities for young people to access programmes which offer accreditation or 
recognition for learning and participation, and personal support, advice and 
guidance

 Restructuring of family support services has increased access to single intervention 
services for  young people resulting in 

o increased access to resilience programmes in high schools
o a joint community based counselling service for pupils and their families in 

order to increase access to therapeutic services
o the development of an emotional health and wellbeing pathway  across 

agencies  to be more effective in meeting the needs of young peoples health 
and wellbeing

Safeguarding arrangements
 The authority’s arrangements for safeguarding meet requirements and all schools 

have trained staff and nominated leads.
 Appropriate policies and procedures are in place and reviewed with headteachers to 

ensure guidance is clear and adhered to. 
 All schools share their safeguarding audits annually with the local authority are 

provided with support and advice and they meet all the requirements. 
 School risk assessments  are routinely quality assured and are of a good standard.
 The LA has a clear Safer Recruitment process and monitors schools and they meet 

the requirements
 The LA has established a Corporate Safeguarding Group to develop relationships 

between all departments to ensure safeguarding and the promotion of welfare of 
both children and adults. This group monitors performance in relation to 
Safeguarding across the Council. 

 Current safeguarding policies and processes and good practice are shared through 
the Safeguarding Forum for schools 

 Safeguarding Training has been delivered to Governors, and LA officers working in 
Catering and Transport to ensure that all those working with children or vulnerable 
adults know their safeguarding responsibilities. 

 Radicalisation training has been delivered to LA and school staff; 380 staff have 
attended. 

 Safeguarding training for governors has been better attended because of the new  
model of cluster based bespoke training. 53 attended the Afon Taf cluster meeting in 
January 2017 where previously attendance was around two to three at training 
sessions

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
 Improve levels of wellbeing for all pupils; mental, emotional and physical.
 Improve rates of attendance across the primary and secondary phases.
 Reduce exclusions for the shorter period of 5 days or less
 Enable schools to improve levels of parental engagement 

Page 79



Appendix 3

 Embed engagement with pupils at LA level to ensure that their voice is heard to 
influence future planning. 

 Improve the outcomes for attainment for CLA

FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE PROMOTION OF SOCIAL INCLUSION AND WELLBEING
 To establish a baseline for Wellbeing 
 To develop capita 1 system to evidence impact of programmes across  youth 

support services that support educational outcomes 
 To implement a vulnerability toolkit across key stage 2 to inform future 

interventions for this age group
 To ensure that pupil voice is heard by the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board to ensure 

an alignment of priorities. 
 To review the MASH process. 
 To include schools engagement with the new WG Keeping learners safe modules 

in the SER safeguarding audit tool.

Page 80



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)? 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

4th June 2018 

Changes in the ESTYN 
Inspection Reporting 
Framework for schools 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Joe Colsey 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to receive details of 
Changes in the ESTYN Self Evaluation Reporting (SER) 
Framework. 
 

FIRST DRAFT Scrutiny 
Report - Review of 
Attendance & 
Attainment in Primary 
& Secondary Schools 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Task & Finish Group. Cllr H 
Jones, Cllr C Davies, and Cllr S 
Jago 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Task and Finish Group 
has prepared its report for consideration by the full 
Committee. Once agreed it will be progressed to 
Cabinet for consideration 
 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2018/19 

n/a Task & Finish Group. Cllr H 
Jones, Cllr C Davies, and Mrs R 
Lazell 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2018/19 as prepared by 
the Task and Finish group of Cllr H Jones, Cllr C. 
Davies, and Mrs R Lazell. 
 

Heolgerrig Community 
School and Trelewis 
Primary School. 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Head teachers of Heolgerrig 
Community School and 
Trelewis Primary School. 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Head teachers of these 
schools will be attending the meeting to share good 
practice in their respective schools. 
 

16th July 2018 

Public Services Board 
and its role in 
Education 

BS Best Start to Life   Lesley Lawson RCT 
Partnerships team / Sue 
Walker 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Focus on Wellbeing and 
how this has an impact /have an effect on Schools. 
How this delivers educational outcomes. 
 

Learning Resource 
Bases (LRB’s) and  
Educated Other Than 
At School (EOTAS) 
Update  

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- To further discuss and 
consider any changes to the provision and re-
alignment of  Learning Resources Bases in the County 
Borough; and  of EOTAS provision. 
 

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 8



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Overview of the 
Progress of Youth 
Support Services 
since the Estyn 
Monitoring Visit 
2015 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton/Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:  For information only 

3rd September 
2018 

Data Report – 
Foundation Phase, 
KS1, KS2 and KS3 (to 
also include a verbal 
update on KS4 results, 
which are only being 
made available on 23rd 
August) 
  

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- to receive a report  on the 
attainment in Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and Key 
Stage 3 in 2018.  

School budgets and 
Overview of Building 
Stock (school buildings 
and estates) and 
future plans 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Anthony Lewis / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- A report providing details of   
School budgets and an overview of building Stock 
(school buildings and estates) and future plans. 
 

Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) 
– Future Plans 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny & Challenge:- Local authorities are under a 
duty to prepare a plan explaining how it will improve 
the planning of Welsh-medium education, and 
improve standards, together with its targets for 
improvement and progress reports. To debate and 
challenge. 
 

15th October 
2018 

Value for money 
report on education 
services 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Steve Jones/Anthony Lewis Scrutiny & Challenge:- A focus on value for money in 
Education Services. The Chief Finance Officer to 
attend the meeting together with the  Head of 
School Planning & Improvement 
 

The Additional 
Learning Needs and 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker  
/Liz Jones (CSC)/ Sarah Bowen 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge:   Discussion on the regional 
and local plan to support and prepare our schools for 

P
age 82



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Act. 
 

the implementation of the Transformation Bill. 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 
 

26th 
November 
2018 

Update on Nursery 
Sufficiency and 30 
Hour Childcare 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:-  Local authorities are 
required to undertake Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessments (CSAs) under Section 26 of the 2006 
Childcare Act on the understanding that local 
authorities are best placed to understand and 
respond to local needs. To receive progress report on 
Nursery Sufficiency and 30 Hour Childcare. 
 

NEETS Strategy 2018 -
2021 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Chris Hole /  Cllr Lisa Mytton / 
Sue Walker 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To Inform the Scrutiny 
Committee of the Not in Education, Employment or 
Training Strategy (2018-21) and the progress that has 
been made against this agenda in line with the 
previous strategy.  The NEETS Strategy identifies 
some critical areas to be progressed if the authority 
is to continue its progress.  
 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 
 

14th January 
2019 

Report on the final 
verified KS4 data and 
results. 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge:-  to update Scrutiny on the 
performance of schools at key stage 4 (KS4) in public 
external examinations 2017/18 
 

P
age 83



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

Categorisation of 
schools 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge:- In January 2015, the Welsh 
Government introduced a new categorisation system 
that considered each school’s standards alongside 
the school’s capacity to improve so as to understand 
the level of support the school needed. To receive a 
report detailing the latest categorisation of schools 
and improvement progress. 
 

Report on Exclusions 
and Attendance 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge:-  The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer  
on local and national statistics / figures on 
Attendance and Exclusions. 
 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) 
Framework 
(Inspection Area 1) 
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report from the Chief Education Officer on 
a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 
 

4th March 
2019 

Central South 
Consortium  
 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge: - Theme to be agreed. KS4 
results will have been finalised by now. 
 

Self-Improving Schools  BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue 
Walker/Joe Colsey/Schools 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer  
and schools on how schools support and challenge 
each other to improve 
 

8th April 2019 

Update on Additional 
Learning Needs 
Services (ALN) to 
incorporate PIU’s, 
LRB’s.  

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker Scrutiny and Challenge:- This meeting will have an  
(Additional Learning Needs) ALN focus. 

P
age 84



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Greenfield School 
Outreach service 
update 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton / Sue Walker / 
Greenfield School 

Scrutiny and Challenge:- During the visit to the 
school in December 2017, the school raised a 
number of points which the scrutiny committee took 
forward on the schools behalf and these were 
responded to by the Chief Education Officer. The 
Chair and Vice Chair have agreed that the school will 
be invited to attend a meeting once the new work 
programme is prepared after the AGM in May 2018. 
Areas of concern were - Continuity of Funding. 
Current number of INSET days per year is insufficient. 
Eligibility / criteria for admission to Greenfield. 
Future accommodation needs of Greenfield to be 
considered as well. To also receive details of the 
Outreach Service. 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

P
age 85



Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 P
age 86


	Agenda
	3 The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	4 Value for Money Report on Education Services
	5 ESTYN Self Evaluation Reporting (SER) Framework (Inspection Areas 2)
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	8 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

